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Independent auditor's report
To the Shareholders of
European Financial Stability Facility SA

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of European Financial Stability Facility SA (the "Entity" or the
"EFSF"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement
of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Entity as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the
European Union.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with EU Regulation W 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 on the
audit profession (the "Law of 23 July 2016") and with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs") as
adopted for Luxembourg by the "Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier" ("CSSF"). Our
responsibilities under the EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and ISAs as adopted for
Luxembourg by the CSSF are further described in the {( Responsibilities of the "reviseur d'entreprises
agree" for the audit of the financial statements» section of our report. We are also independent of the
Entity in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, including
International Independence Standards, issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants ("IESBA Code") as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements, and have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
the audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment of loans and advances
As at 31 December 2020, loans and advances to euro area Member States amount to EUR 185.1 billion
and relate to financial assistance granted to Ireland, Portugal and Greece. As of 31 December 2020, all
these loans and advances are classified as "stage 1" under IFRS 9, and no Expected Credit Loss has
been recorded by EFSF on these outstanding loans.
We considered this as a key audit matter as EFSF applies complex judgments with respect to
- the assessment as to whether some of these loans and advances have incurred, since their

origination, a significant increase in credit risk and should be reclassified to "stage 2" under IFRS 9.
To assess the existence or not of a significant increase in credit risk (which would trigger the recognition
of a lifetime Expected Credit Loss), the Entity has put in place a warning system. In that regard, EFSF
assesses individually each loan and advance granted to euro area Member States under the stability
support on a regular basis through the analysis of the main following indicators of the beneficiary
country:
- the liquidity situation of the sovereign;
- the market access;
- the long-term sustainability of public debt;
- the banking prospects, whenever relevant to assess repayment flows;
- the review of the medium-term economic and financial outlook;
- the identification of default events;
- the assessment of the payment risk for twelve months.
In addition, the Entity has assessed to which extent the Covid-19 pandemic has caused a material
deterioration in the creditworthiness of its borrowers.
Refer to notes 2 and 8 to the financial statements.
How the matter was addressed in our audit
We assessed the design and implementation, and tested the operating effectiveness of the key controls
over EFSF's processes for assessing whether some loans to the euro area Member States have
incurred a significant increase in credit risk which would require a reclassification to stage 2 or even
stage 3 under IFRS 9. This includes:
- the testing of the Entity level controls over the process, including review and approval of assumptions

made by the Management and the Board of Directors;
- the testing of the quarterly Early Warning System reports issued per country and checking if restaging

or impairment recommendations have been adequately applied;
- the testing of assumptions underlying judgments made by the Management and the Board of

Directors when an impairment event occurs on expected cash flows and estimated recovery from any
underlying collateral;
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- the testing of a sample of loans to form our own assessment as to whether impairment events have
occurred and to assess whether impairment was identified and recorded in a timely manner, where
required;

- the reading and assessment of the related contents of the major internal committee minutes;
- checking that reimbursements and waivers granted are made in accordance with the terms and

conditions agreed.

Other information
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Management report and the Corporate Governance Statement but does not
include the financial statements and our report of "reviseur d'entreprises agree" thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report this fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and of those charged with governance for the financial
statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and Luxembourg legal and regulatory
requirements relating to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements, and for such
internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Entity's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the
Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting process.
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Responsibilities of the "reviseur d'entreprises agree" for the audit of the financial statements
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a report of
the "reviseur d'entreprises agree" that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with EU Regulation N°
537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and with the ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and with
ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on theeffectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting poliCies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Board of Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report of the
"reviseur d'entreprises agree" to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our report of the "reviseur d'entreprises agree". However, future events or
conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies ininternal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, relatedsafeguards or "actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We were appointed as "reviseur d'entreprises agree" by the General Meeting of the Shareholders on 28
June 2017 for a three-year term, renewable once. We have been re-appointed as "reviseur d'entreprises
agree" by the General meeting of Shareholders on 24 June 2020 and the duration of our uninterrupted
engagement, including previous renewals and reappointments, is 4 years.
The Management report is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.
The Corporate Governance Statement, included in the Management report, is the responsibility of the
Board of Directors. The information required by article 68ter paragraph (1) letters c) and d) of the law of
19 December 2002 on the commercial and companies register and on the accounting records and
annual accounts of undertakings, as amended, is consistent with the financial statements and has been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
We confirm that the audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee or
equivalent.
We confirm that the prohibited non-audit services referred to in EU Regulation No 537/2014 were not
provided and that we remained independent of the Entity in conducting the audit.

Other matter
The corporate governance statement includes, when applicable, the information required by article 68ter
paragraph (1) points a), b), e), f) and g) of the law of 19 December 2002 on the commercial and
companies register and on the accounting records and annual accounts of undertakings, as amended.

Ernst & Young
Societe anonyme

Cabinet de revision agree

Bernard Lhoest R pa Saliou Diop

Luxembourg, 30 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT REPORT
Business review and results

THE COMPANY
The European Financial Stability Facility (hereafter referred to as ‘’EFSF’’) was created by the euro areamember states on 9 May 2010 as a temporary rescue mechanism. Incorporated on 7 June 2010 as a sociétéanonyme based in Luxembourg, the EFSF’s mandate is to safeguard financial stability in Europe by providingfinancial assistance to euro area member states.
The Treaty establishing the permanent crisis resolution mechanism – the European Stability Mechanism(ESM) was signed in Brussels on 2 February 2012. The ESM Treaty entered into force on 27 September 2012and the ESM was inaugurated on 8 October 2012, following ratification of the ESM Treaty by the then 17 euroarea member states.
The ESM is currently the only mechanism to finance new financial assistance programmes. As of 1 July 2013,the EFSF may no longer engage in new financing programmes or enter into new loan facility agreements, butit will continue to manage existing programmes and the repayment of any outstanding debt. The EFSF shallbe dissolved and liquidated when its purpose is fulfilled, in other words when the EFSF has received fullpayment of the financing granted to the beneficiary Member States and has repaid its liabilities under thefinancial instruments issued and financing arrangements entered into.
All EFSF financial assistance programmes were linked to appropriate economic reforms. To fulfil its mission,the EFSF issues bonds or other debt instruments on the capital markets.
The last EFSF assistance programme was for Greece and expired on 30 June 2015. The EFSF will not provideany further financial assistance. However, the EFSF will continue its operations in order to:

 receive loan repayments from beneficiary Member States;
 make interest and principal payments to EFSF bondholders;
 roll over outstanding EFSF bonds, as the maturity of loans provided to Ireland, Portugal, and Greeceis longer than the maturity of EFSF-issued bonds.

SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT WITH THE EUROPEAN STABILITY MECHANISM
To fulfil its ongoing activity, the EFSF asked the ESM to provide administrative services and other supportservices. To formalise such cooperation, the ESM and the EFSF entered into a service level agreement dated1 January 2013. On 17 July 2020, the annex to the service level agreement detailing the fees calculation wasamended to reflect the level of activity for cost allocations between the two institutions.
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FUNDING STRATEGY
The EFSF initially used a simple back-to-back funding strategy. In November 2011, however, it adopted adiversified funding strategy using a liquidity buffer as a key component. As part of this strategy, the EFSFintroduced a short-term bill programme. From the end of 2011 through January 2013, it held regular auctionsof 3- and 6-month bills.
One consequence of the diversified funding strategy is that funds raised were no longer attributed to specificbeneficiary Member states. The funds were pooled and then disbursed to programme countries uponrequest. As in 2019, in 2020, the EFSF’s strategy continued to focus on standards benchmark and tap issues.The EFSF responded to investor demand with flexibility, conducting special transactions such as the €3 billion30-year bond, which was later tapped by an additional €1 billion during the year, the €3 billion 3-year bondas well as the tap of the €4 billion 5-year bond. The year was characterised by high volatility due to thepandemic crisis.
As of 31 December 2020, the EFSF had been assigned an AA rating by Standard & Poor’s, an Aa1 rating byMoody’s and an AA by Fitch Ratings. All three major credit rating agencies also gave the EFSF the highestpossible short-term rating – Standard and Poor’s (A1+); Moody’s (P-1) and Fitch Ratings (F1+).
In 2020, under the diversified funding strategy, the EFSF continued to issue long-term bonds with differentmaturities. All 2020 issues were successfully placed raising a total of €19.5 billion.
On 31 December 2020, the nominal outstanding amount of debt securities issued was €189.8 billion. Thebalance includes bonds issued under the back-to-back funding strategy amounting to €5 billion, and, underthe diversified funding strategy, long term funding of €150.7 billion.
LENDING OPERATIONS
The EFSF programme for Greece was extended until June 2015 and expired on 30 June 2015. The EFSFprogramme for Ireland ended in December 2013 and the programme for Portugal in May 2014.
The EFSF will not provide any further financial assistance.
Financial assistance for Ireland
In January 2011, the EFSF commenced financial assistance activities by carrying out the first issue for theprogramme for Ireland. Through the end of 2013, the EFSF contributed €17.7 billion to a joint externalfinancing package of €67.5 billion.
On 24 June 2013, the EFSF Board of Directors approved the extension of loan maturities. The AmendmentAgreement to the loan facility agreement was signed on 26 June 2013.
Under the financial assistance agreement, Ireland must repay the loans by 2042.
On 8 December 2013, Ireland officially exited the EFSF financial assistance programme, the first the EFSF hadcarried out. The EFSF loans supported Ireland in the implementation of an economic adjustment programmewhose main goals were: restoring fiscal sustainability; carrying out structural reforms focusing oncompetitiveness and job creation; and downsizing, restructuring, and recapitalising the banking sector. Thesereforms have allowed Ireland to return to sustainable economic growth, end reliance on external assistance,and resume long-term funding on the financial markets.
The euro area member states exiting financial assistance fall under post-programme surveillance. Thecountries will remain subject to monitoring until they have paid back a minimum of 75% of the assistancereceived.
Ireland has, to date, met all its scheduled payment obligations to the EFSF.
The EFSF will continue to work closely with the Irish authorities in the framework of the EFSF’s Early WarningSystem. This is a procedure foreseen in the ESM Treaty aimed at ensuring timely loan repayments bybeneficiary Member States. The EFSF has also adopted a similar procedure.
As at 31 December 2020, the EFSF has no outstanding commitments under this programme.
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Financial assistance for Portugal
On 17 May 2011, an agreement concerning a financial assistance programme for Portugal was signed. TheEFSF placed its first issue for this programme in June 2011. Through April 2014, the EFSF contributed a totalof €26 billion to a joint external financing package of €78 billion.
On 24 June 2013, the EFSF Board of Directors approved the extensions of loan maturities. The AmendmentAgreement relating to the loan facility agreement was signed on 25 June 2013.
Under the financial assistance agreement, Portugal must repay the loans by 2040.
On 18 May 2014, Portugal officially exited the EFSF financial assistance programme. The loans the EFSFprovided have supported Portugal in the implementation of an economic adjustment programme. ThePortuguese reforms have laid the foundation for an economic recovery, enabling the country to end itsreliance on external financial assistance and resume long-term funding on financial markets.
The euro area member states exiting financial assistance fall under post-programme surveillance. Thecountries will remain subject to monitoring until they have paid back a minimum of 75% of the assistancereceived.
Portugal has, to date, met all its scheduled payment obligations to the EFSF.
The EFSF received a €2 billion early repayment request from the Portuguese authorities on 27 June 2019.The EFSF Board of Directors approved this €2 billion early repayment request on 5 September 2019.Portugal’s reimbursement to the EFSF corresponds to a full repayment of a loan tranche maturing in August2025 and partial repayment of a tranche maturing in December 2025. The early repayment was carried outon 17 October 2019.
The EFSF will continue to work closely with the Portuguese authorities in the framework of the EFSF’s EarlyWarning System.
As at 31 December 2020, the EFSF has no outstanding commitments under this programme.
Financial assistance for Greece
On 21 February 2012, the Eurogroup agreed the details of the second financial assistance programme forGreece. The overall programme amount was set at €164.4 billion of which the EFSF committed up to€144.6 billion. Of this amount, €35.5 billion was allocated to the Private Sector Involvement (PSI) for Greekdebt restructuring, and the remaining €109.1 billion to the rest of the financial assistance programme in aMaster Financial Assistance Facility Agreement.
In March 2012, the EFSF contributed to the PSI of Greece in several ways. The EFSF provided €35 billion in1-year notes used as collateral for the Eurosystem. These notes were returned to the EFSF on 25 July 2012and were cancelled on 3 August 2012. Additionally, €29.7 billion in 1- and 2-year EFSF notes were providedto bondholders as part of the debt exchange under the PSI and €4.9 billion in 6-month bills for Greek bondsto cover interest due under outstanding Greek bonds.
In May 2013, two floating rate notes for €7.2 billion were provided to Greece’s national bank recapitalisationfund, the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund (HFSF), to recapitalise the Greek financial sector.
Also, in 2013, the EFSF disbursed €18.1 billion in cash to Greece for budgetary needs.
As part of the second economic adjustment programme, the EFSF disbursed a total of €141.8 billion infinancial assistance to Greece.
The final EFSF assistance programme for Greece expired on 30 June 2015.
On 8 July 2015, the Greek government submitted a request for financial assistance to the Chairperson of theESM Board of Governors. On 13 July 2015, the euro area Ministers of Finance agreed with Greece a set ofurgent prior actions in order to start negotiations for a new programme under the ESM. The ESM Board ofGovernors approved a new programme on 19 August 2015. At the same time, the ESM Boards of Governorsand Directors approved the financial assistance facility agreement (FFA) with Greece. The ESM agreed toprovide Greece with up to €86 billion in financial assistance over three years. The precise amount of ESMfinancial assistance was dependent on the International Monetary Fund’s (hereafter referred to as ‘’IMF’’)participation in the programme and on the success of reform measures by Greece.
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Following two non-payments to the IMF by Greece on 30 June and 13 July 2015, the EFSF Board of Directorsissued Reservation of Rights letters in respect of the EFSF loans to Greece. Greece cleared the arrears withthe IMF on 20 July 2015. As a result, also taking into account that the new ESM financial assistanceprogramme entered into force in August 2015, the EFSF Board of Directors waived its rights to accelerate theEFSF facilities on 6 October 2015.
On 23 January 2017, the EFSF Board of Directors adopted the rules implementing a set of short-term debtrelief measures, which included the smoothing of Greece’s repayment profile.
In this context, the Board of Directors approved a bond exchange, where floating rate notes disbursed by theEFSF to Greece were exchanged for fixed-coupon notes. In addition, the EFSF waived the step-up interestrate margin for the year 2017 on the €11.3 billion EFSF loan tranche that was used to finance a debt buy-back. A margin of 2% had originally been foreseen, starting from 2017. A further measure – the smoothingof Greece’s EFSF repayment profile – was completed on 10 February 2017.
On 22 November 2018, the Board of Directors approved the implementation of a set of medium-term debtrelief measures for Greece. The measures are set out in a number of EFSF documents including theMaster Financial Assistance Facility Agreement between the EFSF and Greece. Euro area finance ministershad endorsed the measures at the Eurogroup meeting on 22 June 2018. The measures include a furtherdeferral of interest and amortisation by 10 years and an extension of the maximum weighted averagematurity (WAM) by 10 years on €96.4 billion of EFSF loans to Greece. Following implementation of themeasures, the weighted average maturity for this part of Greece’s EFSF loans is now 42.3 years. The interestdeferral period, that was previously ending on 12 December 2022, was extended by 10 years until December2032, i.e. interest accruing on €96.4 billion of EFSF loans to Greece is not due and payable but deferred.
The loans to Greece impacted by the medium-term measures were disbursed in many instalments andtranches: 26 Greek EFSF loans have been merged into 7 on the basis of common funding terms. The EFSFGreek debt principal amount repayment schedule before and after the implementation of those measures isshown on the following graph (the private sector involvement “PSI” and bond interest “BI” were not part ofthe medium-term measures):
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On 2 May 2019, the Board of Directors, following a Eurogroup agreement on 22 June 2018, decided to returnthe €103.0 million step-up margin paid by Greece for the period between 1 January and 17 June 2018. TheEFSF also decided, for the period between 17 June 2018 and 17 June 2019, to reduce to zero the 2% step-upmargin that would otherwise be payable on certain EFSF loans amounting to €226.0 million. On 18 December2019, the Board of Directors also decided to reduce to zero the step-up margin for the period from 17 June2019 to 31 December 2019 amounting to a further €122.0 million. On 7 July 2020, the Board of Directors alsodecided to reduce to zero the step-up margin for the period from 1 January 2020 to 17 June 2020 amountingto a further €103.6 million. Furthermore, the Board of Directors decided to keep the reduction of step-upmargin to zero for the period from 17 June 2020 to 1 January 2021. All decisions were part of medium-termdebt relief measures and are based on a positive assessment of Greece’s continued implementation of keyreforms.
As at 31 December 2020, the EFSF has no outstanding commitments under this program.
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF 2020
COVID-19 pandemic:
The COVID-19 pandemic has seriously affected the economic performance and forecast of all Europeancountries, including the EFSF beneficiary Member States (BMS). The significant drop in the gross domesticproduct (GDP) of some countries and the global recession couples with high uncertainty over the short andmedium-term developments. However, a robust national and supranational policy response so far helpedcontaining the consequences. In particular, the combination of these measures with the extremely lowinterest rates and the strong commitment from European Union institutions has led to a significant responsefrom investors. As a result, all BMS maintain stable market access with favourable terms that, together withsizable cash buffers for some countries, mitigate any liquidity risk over the short-term. Moreover, the positiveimpact of the European funds on the countries’ growth path together with the expected low-for-long fundingcosts mitigate long-term sustainability risks, which is also relevant for the main EFSF exposures.
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Compared to 2019, the EFSF’s net result decreased by €50.3 million due to a decrease of service fee incomefrom the lending activity.
The other comprehensive income decreased by €0.1 million in 2020, while the related equity reserveremained positive at year-end.
The results of the EFSF as at 31 December 2020 are summarised in the table below:
Summary of the statement of comprehensive income
(in € '000) 2020 2019
Income 2,341,213 2,606,766Expenses (2,345,741) (2,560,982)
Net (loss)/income for the year (4,528) 45,784
Other comprehensive income:Net results on Treasury financial assets (unrealised) (29,962) (41,291)
Net amount reclassified to the statement of comprehensiveincome on sale of treasury financial assets portfolio (11,883) (415)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (46,373) 4,078
In 2020, the total balance sheet decreased by €1.8 billion compared to year-end 2019. This is mainly due tothe decrease of €3.0 billion in cash and cash equivalents and is partially offset an increase in loans to euroarea member states of €1.1 billion mostly driven by additional deferred interest on loan to Greece.
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The balance sheet is summarised as follows:
Summary of the balance sheet
(in € '000)                     31.12.2020                     31.12.2019
TOTAL ASSETS 193,721,150 195,486,519Of which:Cash and cash equivalents 7,103,441 10,130,223Loans to euro area member states 185,066,378 183,991,181
Treasury financial assets 1,551,117 1,364,885
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 193,721,150 195,486,519Total liabilities 192,914,385 194,633,381
Of which:Debt securities in issue 191,350,731 193,133,608
Liability against euro area member states 1,553,915 1,490,194
Total shareholders’ equity 806,765 853,138
OUTLOOK FOR 2021
For 2021, the EFSF’s long-term funding target is €16.5 billion. The EFSF will continue to finance the existingdebt until all the loans have been repaid by the beneficiary Member States, EFSF’s net income will decreasefurther due to a lower service fee income.



13

Risk Management
The EFSF has implemented a systematic processfor the management of the various types of riskto which the organisation is exposed inexecuting its mandate. The management of riskat the EFSF is a four-step process that appliesequally to the management of both financial(Credit, Market and Liquidity Risk) and non-financial risks:
Risk identification is the process for ensuringthe identification of all material risk exposures,both financial and non-financial, faced by theEFSF, together with relevant internal or externalindicators that support proactive, forward-looking assessment of actual or potentialchanges in risk exposure.
Risk assessment is the process for assessing all identified risk exposures to determine their materiality. Forfinancial risks, materiality is typically assessed on the basis of expert judgement and in consultation withrelevant internal stakeholders. For non-financial risks this is done by assessing the probability of occurrenceand the consequences/impact to the organisation in the event of occurrence.
Risk management is the process of determining and executing appropriate actions or the implementation ofspecific policies to actively manage risk exposures. For financial risks, these management actions mightinclude elimination, mitigation, transfer or acceptance of the risk.
Risk monitoring is the set of processes, procedures, responsibilities and tools needed for ongoing monitoringand reporting of material risk exposures and for triggering the active management of an unacceptable riskexposure. This requires robust, auditable control processes, limit frameworks, breach escalationmechanisms, dashboards, reports and other tools to ensure appropriate risk monitoring.
Certain financial risk exposures are monitored by setting appropriate limits on exposure. Credit risk limits areset against individual obligors, such as issuers in the case of the EFSF’s treasury financial assets and deposits.Liquidity risk limits are set against certain funding outcomes.
The EFSF was established to support the stability of the euro area and euro area member states. Effectivelyfulfilling this mandate requires ensuring the highest creditworthiness to minimise the cost of borrowing tosupport lending operations and ensure market access. In order to attain the highest credit rating, overall risktolerance is very conservative so as to minimise the risk of capital loss on investments, maintain access tothe funding market, and manage credit risk on investments.
As with all financial institutions, the EFSF remains subject to a number of financial and non-financial risks.The types of risk to which the EFSF is exposed are a function of the nature of its mandate and operationalactivities. Appropriate procedures and processes are implemented to identify, assess, monitor and managethese risks.
CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the potential for loss arising from the inability of a counterparty, issuer, insurer or other obligorto fulfil its contractual obligations. Credit risk mainly arises from loans granted to the borrower euro areamember states. Monthly reports are supplied to Shareholders detailing their guarantee consumption inrespect of each bond and bill issued by the EFSF.
Credit risk also arises from investments in treasury financial assets related to the support programmes, whichare mitigated through strict investment guidelines focusing on issuers with the highest credit ratings andthrough limits to mitigate the maximum exposure per counterparty or issuer.

Risk Management Process 
Risk Management Process 
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MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk of losses arising from changes in the values of financial assets and liabilities due tofluctuations in market factors such as interest rates, and prices of securities. Market risk can be structural (inrelation to assets and liabilities) or non-structural (in relation to investments). The EFSF has both types ofmarket risk: structural for the lending and funding activities, and non-structural in relation to the investmentportfolios.
At present, the EFSF’s loans are longer in maturity than its funding, hence there is a maturity mismatch,where a higher borrowing cost could apply at future dates. This mismatch is managed by careful asset-liabilitycash flow monitoring and a diversified funding strategy. This risk is not retained by the EFSF, due to the pass-through feature of the EFSF pricing policy.
The treasury financial assets are generally invested to maturity, so that although market risk is assumed onthe portfolio from one accounting period to the next, as reflected in the notes to the accounts, the impacton the EFSF over the life of the investments is limited.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk of loss arising from the difficulty in securing the necessary funding, due to adeterioration of the EFSF’s creditworthiness or needing to borrow at a time of unfavourable marketconditions (e.g. periods of high stress). Liquidity risk is addressed by holding adequate available funds tocover short-term liquidity needs.
Liquidity risk is mitigated through:

 available funds, with ability to call from Shareholders further funds if there is a shortfall;
 a diversified funding strategy;
 regular active monitoring of the cash position;
 a regular presence in the market which keeps access to a wide and well diversified investor base.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is defined as the potential loss, inability to fulfil the EFSF’s mandate or reputational damageresulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events.Operational risks are categorised in line with the guidance by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision,as follows:

 execution, delivery, and process management;
 counterparties, products, and business practices;
 fraud;
 business disruption and systems failures;
 employment practices and workplace safety; and
 damage to physical assets.

Management has no tolerance for material operational risks, including those originating from thirdparty/vendor engagements, which may result in the EFSF’s inability to effectively fulfil its mandate, or insignificant loss and/or reputational damage. No material operational risk losses were identified in 2020.
The ESM, on behalf of the EFSF, has processes, risk management tools and a control framework to ensure ahigh level of control on the operational risks inherent to activities of the EFSF. The ESM, also on behalf of theEFSF, maintains business continuity plans and has resources dedicated to the oversight and management ofspecific types of operational risk of the EFSF such as fraud, risks pertaining to payment systems, andinformation systems’ security risks.
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All departments are responsible for the proactive mitigation of operational risks, and for the robustness ofthe associated processes, in a “first line of defence” capacity. If operational risk events occur, they arereported to the Risk Management through an internal operational risk register. Formal escalation procedureshave been established to ensure the active involvement of management, the EFSF Audit Committee and,where necessary, the EFSF Board of Directors.
The EFSF has continued to operate smoothly in a full telework set-up since the beginning of the COVID-19
pandemic thanks to the Business Continuity framework. No operational risk events had a direct link to the
remote working set-up.

COVID-19 Pandemic impact and risk management response
The pandemic has seriously affected the economic performance and forecast of all European countries,including the EFSF beneficiary Member States (BMS). The significant drop in the GDP of all countries andthe global recession couples with high uncertainty over the short- and medium-term developments.However, a robust national and supranational policy response so far has helped to contain theconsequences. In particular, the combination of these measures with the extremely low interest ratesand the strong commitment from EU institutions have led to a significant response from investors. As aresult, all BMS maintain stable market access with favourable terms that, together with sizable cashbuffers for some more vulnerable countries, mitigate any liquidity risk over the short term. Moreover,the positive impact of the European funds on the countries’ growth path together with the expectedlow-for-long funding costs mitigate long-term sustainability risks, which is also relevant for the main EFSFexposures.
During 2020, the EFSF risk assessment and impairment assessment methodology have duly captured thesevere impact from the pandemic, together with the related risks and the recent developments. Inparticular, the assessment focused on whether the effects of the pandemic triggered a significantincrease in credit risk (SICR) and if it would materialise in a lifetime expected credit loss (ECL), inaccordance with IFRS 9 requirements. In that context, a complete assessment of a wide range of inputsbased on forward-looking information was performed, to ensure a comprehensive assessment of allshort-term and medium-to-long term factors and consequences. As described above, inputs includeshort-term economic data, vulnerability indicators, liquidity balances and market indicators, togetherwith medium-to-long term risks, policy measures and mitigating factors.
All those factors, and in particular the strong liquidity position and market access of BMS, are expectedto adequately balance the economic shock caused by the pandemic and address the related risks. Theliquidity risk can be a major concern in a crisis context, therefore the positive funding performance ofBMS, including the most vulnerable ones, represent a remarkable balancing element. Because of thisand all elements included, as of 31 December 2020, the assessment did not identify a significant increasein credit risk on its exposures to BMS. The overall credit quality of the EFSF loan portfolio remainedrelatively stable.
Risk management also performed credit risk scenarios of EFSF investment/funding counterparties whoseratings are more vulnerable to downward rating pressures due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The analysisaimed to show the results of medium-term scenarios of how the credit rating of the EFSF investmentportfolio counterparties could change in the future. The scenarios were useful to see where the currentEFSF investment portfolio was particularly vulnerable from the perspective of potential credit ratingdowngrades. The analysis did not identify significant increases in credit risk generated by the impact ofthe COVID-19 pandemic on the EFSF investment portfolio.
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Research and development
The Company has no research and development activity.

Share capital
The Company’s approved and issued share capital totals €28,513,396.92 consisting of 2,851,339,692 shareswith a face value of €0.01 each.

Brexit and risk management response
The UK formally exited the EU on 29 March 2019, and then a transition period was agreed until 31December 2020 to negotiate a withdrawal agreement on the principles of the future relationshipbetween the EU and the UK. After intensive negotiations, the European Commission reached on 24December 2020 an agreement with the United Kingdom on the terms of its future cooperation with theEuropean Union: the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement.
EFSF Risk Management had already carried out an institution-wide risk assessment on Brexit in 2018.This assessment was shared with the Internal Risk Committee, which consequently decided to no longerinvest in UK-based issuers. As at 31 December 2020, the EFSF does not have any investment exposureto UK-based assets.
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Shareholders
The shareholders of the Company are the euro area member states as of 31 December 2020 except for theRepublic of Latvia and the Republic of Lithuania. The following table shows the number of shares andsubscription amounts for each shareholder.

Member State Number of shares Capital as of31 December 2020 (in €)
Federal Republic of Germany 771,706,294 7,717,062.94
French Republic 579,522,400 5,795,224.00
Italian Republic 509,243,918 5,092,439.18
Kingdom of Spain 338,392,963 3,383,929.63
Kingdom of the Netherlands 162,521,534 1,625,215.34
Kingdom of Belgium 98,844,650 988,446.50
Hellenic Republic(1) 80,070,849 800,708.49
Republic of Austria 79,125,435 791,254.35
Portuguese Republic(1) 71,329,846 713,298.46
Republic of Finland 51,097,174 510,971.74
Ireland(1) 45,261,689 452,616.89
Slovak Republic 28,256,464 282,564.64
Republic of Slovenia 13,398,796 133,987.96
Republic of Estonia 7,294,357 72,943.57
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg 7,119,129 71,191.29
Republic of Cyprus(1) 5,578,757 55,787.57
Republic of Malta 2,575,437 25,754.37
Total 2,851,339,692 28,513,396.92

(1) As at the effective date of the amendments, the Republic of Ireland, the Portuguese Republic and theHellenic Republic had become Stepping-Out Guarantors. The Republic of Cyprus became a Stepping-OutGuarantor as of 29 April 2013.
Corporate governance

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors is comprised of high-level representatives of each of the 17 EFSF Shareholders. TheEuropean Commission and European Central Bank (hereafter referred to as the ‘’ECB’’) are entitled toappoint an observer to the Board of Directors’ meetings, who may present his or her observations but doesnot have voting rights.
The Directors are appointed by the shareholders’ general meeting for a period not exceeding six years andare eligible for reappointment. They may be removed at any time by a resolution of the general meeting ofshareholders.
The Board of Directors is vested with the broadest powers to perform all acts of administration anddisposition in the Company’s interests. The Board of Directors is authorised to transfer, assign, and disposeof the assets of the Company in such manner as it deems appropriate.
The Board of Directors may delegate its powers to conduct the daily management and affairs of the Companyand the representation of the Company for such daily management and affairs to any member or membersof the Board of Directors, managers, officers, or other agents who need not be shareholders of the Company,under such terms and with such powers as the Board of Directors may determine.
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GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
The general meeting of shareholders represents the entire body of shareholders of the Company. It has thebroadest powers to order, carry out or ratify acts relating to the operations of the Company.
Each share is entitled to one vote. A shareholder may act at any general meeting, directly or by appointing aproxy.
AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee is a permanent sub-committee of the Board of Directors of the Company pursuant toArticle 52 of the Luxembourg Law of 23 July 2016 concerning the audit profession. The Audit Committee wasestablished by the Board of Directors on 17 December 2013. The Board of Directors approved the Terms ofReference and Rules of Procedure of the Audit Committee on 24 March 2014 and they were subsequentlyamended on 8 February 2018. The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in discharging itsresponsibilities in financial reporting, internal control, risk management, internal audit and external audit ofthe Company. The Audit Committee consists of five members who are appointed by the Board of Directorsfrom among Directors, for a renewable term of office of one year.
The Audit Committee meets whenever the affairs of the Company so require, at the time and place specifiedin the notice of the meeting.
AUDIT
EFSF Management and Internal Audit signed a Charter for Audit and Control on 26 November 2010. It waspresented to the Board of Directors at its meeting on 3 December 2010. An updated Internal Audit Charterwas approved by the Board of Directors on 23 November 2020.
Internal Audit examines and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation's governance, riskmanagement process, and system of internal controls. It also analyses the organisation’s performance incarrying out assigned responsibilities to achieve its stated goals and objectives.

Rules Governing Amendments to the Articles of Association
Amendments to the Articles of Association are approved by resolution at an Extraordinary General Meetingof Shareholders subject to the EFSF Articles of Association and Luxembourg law.

Branches of the Company
The Company has no branch.

Main subsequent events
Please refer to Note 23 of the financial statements.
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Future prospects
The EFSF was created as a temporary institution. In accordance with its Articles of Association, the EFSF willbe dissolved and liquidated when its purpose is fulfilled, that being the moment when the EFSF will havereceived full payment of the financing granted to the member states and will have repaid all its liabilitiesunder the financial instruments issued and financing arrangements entered into. No new financingprogramme and no new loan facility agreements may be established or entered into by the EFSF after 30June 2015.
Currently the longest outstanding EFSF loan, following the implementation of the medium-term measures,matures in 2070 for Greece.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors.

Klaus Regling
 Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020(In €’000)

Notes 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 7 7,103,441 10,130,223
Loans to euro area member states 8 185,066,378 183,991,181
Treasury financial assets 9 1,551,117 1,364,885
Prepayments and other receivables 10 214 230
Total assets 193,721,150 195,486,519

LIABILITIES
Debt securities in issue 11 191,350,731 193,133,608
Liability against euro area member states 12 1,553,915 1,490,194
Trade and other payables 13 9,739 9,579
Total liabilities 192,914,385 194,633,381
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Ordinary shares 14 28,513 28,513
Legal reserve 15 2,894 2,894
Fair value reserve 9/15 10,995 52,840
Retained earnings 768,891 723,107
Net (loss)/income for the year (4,528) 45,784
Total shareholders’ equity 806,765 853,138
Total equity and liabilities 193,721,150 195,486,519
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ending 31 December 2020(In €’000)

Notes 2020 2019
Statement of Profit or LossInterest revenue calculated using the effectiveinterest method 16 2,340,273 2,606,352
Interest expense calculated using the effectiveinterest method 16 (2,272,151) (2,486,443)
Result on financial operations on Treasury financialassets portfolio 940 414
Other expenses 17 (39,187) (40,495)
Net financial income 29,875 79,828
Administrative expenditures 18 (34,403) (34,044)
Total operating expenses (34,403) (34,044)
Net (loss)/income for the year (4,528) 45,784
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified instatement of Profit or Loss
Change in fair value of Treasury financial assetsportfolio 9 (29,962) (41,291)
Net amount reclassified to the statement ofcomprehensive income on sale of treasury financialassets portfolio

9/15 (11,883) (415)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (46,373) 4,078
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ending 31 December 2020(In €’000)

Ordinaryshares Legalreserve Fair valuereserve Retainedearnings Net income TotalAs at 1 January 2019 28,513 2,894 94,546 614,499 108,608 849,060
Comprehensive income
Allocation of the net income of2018:- to the retained earnings - - - 108,608 (108,608) -Net income for the year 2019 - - - - 45,784 45,784Change in fair value reserve - - (41,291) - - (41,291)
Net amount reclassified to thestatement of comprehensiveincome on sale of treasuryfinancial assets portfolio - - (415) - - (415)As at 31 December 2019 28,513 2,894 52,840 723,107 45,784 853,138

Ordinaryshares Legalreserve Fair valuereserve Retainedearnings Net income/(loss) TotalAs at 1 January 2020 28,513 2,894 52,840 723,107 45,784 853,138
Comprehensive incomeAllocation of the net income of2019: - to the retained earnings - - - 45,784 (45,784) -Net(loss) for the year 2020 - - - - (4,528) (4,528)Change in fair value reserve - - (29,962) - - (29,962)
Net amount reclassified to thestatement of comprehensiveincome on sale of treasuryfinancial assets portfolio - - (11,883) - - (11,883)As at 31 December 2020 28,513 2,894 10,995 768,891 (4,528) 806,765
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ending 31 December 2020(In €’000)

2020 2019
Operating activities:
Net (loss)/income for the year (4,528) 45,784
Interest receivable on loans to euro area member states (2,131,327) (2,411,543)
Interest receivable on treasury financial assets (25,973) (16,824)
Interest payable on debt securities in issue 2,023,821 2,514,429
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments 16 (230)
Increase/(Decrease) of trade and other payables 160 (103,684)
Net cash flow from operating activities (137,831) 27,932
Investing activities
Repayments of Loans to euro-area member states received - 2,000,000
Interest received on loans to euro area member states 1,095,316 1,219,096
Net investment in treasury financial assets (235,551) 19,025
Interest received on treasury financial assets 57,982 44,242
Net cash flow from investing activities 917,747 3,282,363
Financing activities
Issuance of debt instruments (1,488,408) 1,374,004
Interest paid on debt securities in issue (2,318,290) (2,485,968)
Net cash flow from financing activities (3,806,698) (1,111,964)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (3,026,782) 2,198,331
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 10,130,223 7,931,892
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7,103,441 10,130,223
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. General information

The European Financial Stability Facility (the ‘’EFSF’’ or the ‘’Company’’) was incorporated on 7 June 2010and is organised under the laws of Luxembourg as a société anonyme. It has its registered office at 6a, Circuitde la Foire Internationale, L-1347 Luxembourg.
The EFSF was created by the euro area member states following the decisions taken on 9 May 2010 withinthe framework of the Ecofin Council and is owned by euro area member states.
The EFSF was initially designed to issue notes guaranteed by euro area member states for up to around€440.0 billion to lend on to euro area member states in financial difficulty. The assistance was subject toconditions negotiated with the European Commission in liaison with the ECB and, where appropriate theIMF, which the Eurogroup needed to approve.
On 24 June 2011, the Heads of State or Government agreed to increase the EFSF’s scope of activity and raisedits guarantee commitments from €780 billion to €440 billion. This included an over-guarantee of up to 165%,which corresponded to a lending capacity of €440 billion in order to ensure the highest possible credit rating.On 21 July 2011, the Heads of State or Governments agreed to further increase the EFSF’s scope of activityto:

 issue bonds or other debt instruments on the market to raise the funds needed to provide loans tocountries in financial difficulties;
 intervene in the primary debt markets;
 intervene in the secondary debt markets;
 act on the basis of a precautionary programme;
 finance recapitalisations and resolutions of financial institutions through loans to governments.

These amendments to the EFSF Framework came into force on 18 October 2011, following the conclusion ofall necessary national procedures.
On 26 October 2011, the Heads of State or Government of euro area member states agreed to maximise theEFSF’s capacity without increasing the euro area member states’ guarantee commitments by adopting twoapproaches, partial risk protection and the co-investment. The two options were designed to support thecontinued market access of euro area member states in financial distress and safeguard the financial stabilityof the euro area. By the balance sheet date, the options have not yet been used.
As of 1 July 2013, the Company may no longer engage in new financial assistance facilities, but it continuesto manage existing programmes and the repayment of any outstanding debt. The Company shall be dissolvedand liquidated when its purpose is fulfilled, in other words when the Company has received full repaymentof the financing granted to beneficiary member states and has repaid its liabilities under the financialinstruments issued and financing arrangements entered into.
At the beginning of 2013, the staff of the EFSF was transferred to the ESM. To carry out its ongoing activity,the EFSF asked the ESM to provide it with certain administrative and other support services. To formalisesuch cooperation, the ESM and the EFSF entered into a Service Level Agreement beginning on1 January 2013. On 17 July 2020, the annex to the service level agreement detailing the fees calculation wasamended following a decision of the ESM Managing Director. The new applicable calculation method of thefees was determined to better reflect the fair cost-sharing between the ESM and the EFSF compared to theirrespective level of activity.
The present financial statements cover the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.

European Financial Stability Facility QFSF European Financial Stability Facility QFSF 
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These financial statements were approved by the EFSF Board of Directors on 30 March 2021 andsubsequently approved by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 30 June 2021.
1.1. GENERAL OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE PROGRAMMES
1.1.1. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE UNDER THE FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT (“EFSF 1”)

Under the framework of EFSF 1, the Company participated in three financial assistance programme loans -one for Ireland and two for Portugal, all of which started in 2011.
Initially, under these programmes, all issued debt was backed by an over-guarantee of 120% from theGuarantee countries (Guarantors) of the euro area member states and by cash retentions from the proceedsof the issued bonds. The cash retentions were calculated in a way that the guarantees from AAA ratedcountries and the cash retained would be sufficient to cover all of the associated debt service if theunderlying loan was not paid in full (see below). These credit enhancements were designed to support theAAA rating of the EFSF as an issuer.
The interest rate which the EFSF applied to each loan covered the cost of funding it incurred and included aMargin which was intended to provide remuneration for the Guarantors. The Margin was deducted from theloan disbursement amount as Prepaid Margin, plus the service fee which was used to cover the EFSF’soperational costs and any costs and fees directly related to the issuance of funding instruments which hadnot otherwise been charged to the relevant borrowing country.
For loans, a Loan Specific Cash Buffer was put aside to ensure that the principal amount of debt securitiesissued to fund that loan (together with the interest which will accrue on such debt securities to scheduledmaturity) was, at their date of issuance fully covered by the sum of:

 the aggregate amount of guarantees of Guarantors with the highest quality rating (taking intoaccount the 120% guarantee coverage);
 the cash reserve retained in relation to such loans (financed out of the Prepaid Margin and theservice fee);
 the Negative Carry payment retained in respect of such loans;
 the applicable Loan Specific Cash Buffer; and
 any other credit enhancement (if any) in the form of cash or credit enhancement with the highestquality rating that is adopted pursuant to a Framework Agreement.

The Cash Reserve includes these retained amounts, together with all income and investments earned byinvesting these amounts. The Cash Reserve is invested in accordance with investment guidelines approvedby the EFSF Board of Directors.
On 21 July 2011, the Heads of State or Governments decided that the Margin, initially reserved toremunerate the Guarantors, will no longer be applicable to new loans granted to Greece, Ireland and Portugalunder EFSF 2.1. This has given rise to further decision in relation to the reimbursement of the Prepaid Marginalready charged to Ireland and Portugal under EFSF 1. According to the new mechanism, the Margin may bereimbursed to the borrowing countries at the maturity of the bonds as a rebate. Such a rebate will be madein accordance with the proportion share due after 21 July 2011. The proportional share of the margin before21 July 2011 will be due to the Member State Guarantors.
Following the maturity of the EFSF 1 programme for Ireland on 18 July 2016, the EFSF returned to Ireland€554.9 million of prepaid margin and accumulated investment returns. The portion of the prepaid margin,accumulated investment returns and unused negative carry for the Member State Guarantors amounted to€55.7 million, which has not been paid out at the balance sheet date.
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Furthermore, following the maturity of the first EFSF 1 programme for Portugal, on 5 December 2016, theEFSF returned €301.8 million of prepaid margin and accumulated investment returns to Portugal. Theportion of the prepaid margin, accumulated investment returns and unused negative carry for the MemberState Guarantors amounted to €4.0 million, which has not been paid out at the balance sheet date.
1.1.2. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE UNDER THE AMENDED FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT(“EFSF 2.1”)

The Board of Directors approved the new EFSF framework agreement on 27 October 2011. All new issuesafter this date no longer operate with the cash reserve and only the irrevocable and unconditional guaranteegranted by euro area member states on the issued bonds remains in place.
All issues under the revised debt issuance programme are over-guaranteed by 165% from the Guaranteecountries of the euro area member states. As a consequence, there was no need for new issues after thisdate to benefit from the cash reserve as the irrevocable and unconditional guarantees granted by euro areamember states on the issued bonds are large enough to cover the entire amounts due.
The interest rate which the EFSF applies to each loan under EFSF 2.1 covers the cost of funding incurred plusthe service fee for the EFSF’s operational costs. The service fee has two components: an up-front service fee(50 basis points) and an annual service fee (0.5 basis points). To provide the same cover for investors, theamount of over-guarantee was increased to 165% from 120%. Under this amended framework agreement,the EFSF is entitled to charge 10 basis points of guarantee commission fee for the loans granted to euro areamember states where such a fee provides remuneration for the guarantor member states.
All loans granted in 2012, 2013 and 2014 under financial assistance programmes were concluded under theamended framework agreement.
In November 2012, the Eurogroup took the political decision to change the lending terms of the supportprogramme for Greece. As a result, the Board of Directors decided to extend the maturities of the EFSF loansto Greece by 15 years and deferred Greece’s interest payments on EFSF loans by 10 years. In addition, theBoard cancelled the guarantee commission fee.
To manage this loan maturity extension, the EFSF was required to allow repayments after 2048. To financethese extended loans, the EFSF amended in 2013 the relevant Trust Deeds to allow for the issuance offunding instruments after 2048. It introduced a similar amendment to the relevant Deeds of Guarantee,extending the end year for the Deeds of Guarantee to 2070.
To support Ireland’s and Portugal’s efforts to regain full market access and successfully exit theirprogrammes, the EFSF decided, in line with a Eurogroup decision, to lengthen the maturities of their EFSFloans by increasing the weighted average maturity limit by seven years. The extension smooths the debt-redemption profile of both countries and lowers their refinancing needs in the post-programme period. TheEuropean Financial Stabilisation Mechanism (EFSM), which committed €22.5 billion for Ireland and€26 billion for Portugal, also extended their maturities by seven years.
Initially, the weighted average maturity of EFSF loan tranches was up to 15 years. The final weighted averagematurity of EFSF loans to Portugal and Ireland is 20.8 years.
On 8 December 2013, Ireland officially exited the EFSF financial assistance programme with the expiry of theavailability period under its Master FFA.
On 18 May 2014, Portugal exited the EFSF financial assistance programme.
On 19 December 2014, the Board of Directors decided to grant Greece a two-month technical extension ofits second economic adjustment programme financed by the EFSF until 28 February 2015. On27 February 2015, the Board of Directors decided on a further four-month technical extension of theprogramme until 30 June 2015.
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The EFSF assistance programme for Greece expired on 30 June 2015. The EFSF will not provide any furtherfinancial assistance.
On 23 January 2017, the EFSF Board of Directors adopted the rules implementing a set of short-term debtrelief measures which included the smoothing of Greece’s repayment profile.
In this context, the Board of Directors approved a bond exchange, where floating rate notes disbursed bythe EFSF to Greece are exchanged for fixed coupon notes. In addition, the EFSF waived the step-up interestrate margin for the year 2017 on the €11.3 billion EFSF loan tranche that was used to finance a debt buy-back. A margin of 2% had originally been foreseen, starting from 2017. A further measure – the smoothingof Greece’s EFSF repayment profile – was completed on 10 February 2017. Following the smoothing, Greecemust repay the loans by 2070 according to the terms of the relevant financial assistance agreement. Theabove measures did not affect the profit and loss of the EFSF, as the net present value of the modified cashflows approaches the carrying amount of the loans.
On 22 November 2018, the Board of Directors approved the implementation of a set of medium-term debtrelief measures for Greece. The measures are set out in a number of EFSF documents including theMaster Financial Assistance Facility Agreement between the EFSF and Greece. Euro area finance ministershad endorsed the measures at the Eurogroup meeting on 22 June 2018.
The implementation of the EFSF medium-term measures for Greece consists of (i) a mechanism for theconditional abolition of the step-up interest rate margin related to the debt buy-back instalment of thesecond Greek programme from 2018 onwards; (ii) a further deferral of interest and amortisation by 10 yearson €96.4 billion of EFSF loans to Greece; and (iii) extension of the maximum weighted average maturity ofthe above-mentioned loans by 10 years, respecting the programme authorised amount. Followingimplementation of the measures, the weighted average maturity for this part of Greece’s EFSF loans is now42.3 years. The interest deferral period, that was previously ending on 12 December 2022, was extended by10 years until December 2032, i.e. interest accruing on €96.4 billion of EFSF loans to Greece is not due andpayable but deferred.
On 2 May 2019, as part of the medium-term debt relief, the Board of Directors decided to reimburse the€103.0 million step-up margin paid by Greece for the period between 1 January and 17 June 2018. The EFSFalso decided, for the period between 17 June 2018 and 17 June 2019, until 31 December 2019, to reduce tozero the 2% step-up margin that would otherwise be payable on certain EFSF loans. Furthermore, in 2020EFSF also decided to keep the step-up margin to zero during the period 1 January 2020 to 1 January 2021.
The EFSF received an early repayment requests from the Portuguese authorities on 27 June 2019. The EFSFBoard of Directors approved this €2.0 billion early repayment request on 5 September 2019. Portugal’s€2.0 billion reimbursement to the EFSF corresponds to a full repayment of a loan tranche maturing in August2025 and partial repayment of a tranche maturing in December 2025. The early repayment did notsignificantly affect the net present value of the corresponding loans.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The accompanying standalone financial statements are prepared and presented on the accrual basis ofaccounting and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EuropeanUnion. The financial statements are presented in euro (“€”) which is also the functional currency of theCompany. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS requires the use of certain criticalaccounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying theCompany’s accounting policies. Areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas whereassumptions and estimations are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Notes 2.2, 5 and 6.

2.2. USE OF ESTIMATES
Management may make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities,revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent liabilities on the date of the financial statements. Actualresults could differ from the estimates. Any revision to accounting estimates is recognised prospectively incurrent and future periods.
Critical accounting estimates are detailed in Note 6.

2.3. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.Exchange differences, if any, arising out of transactions settled during the year are recognised in thestatement of comprehensive income as translation gains or losses.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translatedat the closing exchange rates on that date. The exchange differences, if any, are recognised in the statementof comprehensive income as translation gains or losses and related assets and liabilities are accordinglyrevalued in the statement of financial position.

2.4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquidinvestments with original maturities of three months or less with insignificant risk of change in fair value.Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.
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2.5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
In accordance with IFRS 9, all financial assets and liabilities – which include derivative financial instruments– have to be recognised in the statement of financial position and measured in accordance with theirassigned category.

2.5.1. FINANCIAL ASSETS
(a)  Classification and measurement – financial assets

IFRS 9 includes three classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, measured atfair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), or measured at fair value through profit and loss(FVTPL). All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. Inaddition, on initial recognition the EFSF may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets therequirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantlyreduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise [IFRS9 § 4.1.5].
A financial asset is classified into one of these categories on initial recognition, based on the business modelassessment and the contractual cash flows [IFRS9 9.4.1.1].

i) Business model assessment
The EFSF assesses the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level,because this best reflects the way each group of assets is managed and information is provided tomanagement.

ii) Assessment whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPItest)
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the EFSFconsiders the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial assetcontains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that itwould not be consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

iii) Financial assets classification
The classification and measurement of financial assets as at 31 December 2020 is as follows:

 Loans to euro area member states, are classified and measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9because they are managed in a business model of collecting contractual cash flows and the EFSFhas no intention and expectation of selling these loans. The SPPI test has returned the eligibilityfor amortised cost measurement of all the EFSF loans. The EFSF conducts tests to verify sucheligibility on each new exposure;
 Treasury financial assets are classified and measured as financial assets at fair value through othercomprehensive income under IFRS 9 because both collecting contractual cash flows and selling thefinancial assets are an integral part of the business model.

(b)  Credit risk and impairment – financial assets
IFRS 9 applies a forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. Following this model, a first assessmentis made to determine whether the credit risk attached to each financial asset has significantly increased anda second assessment is made to determine the expected credit loss. This requires considerable judgementon how changes in economic factors affect ECLs.
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i)  Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
Under IFRS 9, the significant increase in credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial asset is determined incomparison to the initial recognition of the asset. This is a key aspect for determining ECL on loans grantedby the EFSF, especially in the context of crisis resolution and financial assistance to member states, which arealso the shareholders of the entity.
The EFSF considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without unduecost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the EFSF’shistorical experience, monitoring systems and forward-looking information.
At each reporting date, the EFSF assesses whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increasedsignificantly since initial recognition in order to classify the financial asset as either Stage 1, Stage 2 orStage 3 (counterparty default – refer to sub note ‘v’ in the same section below).
When making the assessment, the EFSF evaluates the credit risk of each financial asset through acombination of short-term and medium to long term parameters, as detailed below:

 in the case of EFSF loans to euro area member states, an approach based on qualitative and non-statistical quantitative information available is deemed to be the most adequate to assess thecredit risk. The features of the EFSF’s loans, the lending conditionality and a unique access toborrower’s information, enables the Company to follow a primarily qualitative approach in theassessment of default risk over the lifetime of its exposures [IFRS9 9.B5.5.18];
 on the Treasury financial assets, the EFSF assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument hasnot increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument within the investmentportfolio is determined to have low credit risk at reporting date. An external rating of 'investmentgrade' (BBB-/Baa3 and above) is considered as indicator of a low credit risk.

Qualitative measures of SICR
The idiosyncratic features of EFSF loans, their unique institutional status and all conditionality attached tothe financial assistance, make these loans a special type of financial assets. Direct access to relevantinformation and the unique relationship with its member states, enables the Company to follow a primarilyqualitative approach in the credit risk assessment of its exposures. In particular, EFSF’s financial assistanceto member states is strictly linked to an adjustment programme that the beneficiary member state (BMS)commits to in order to overcome imbalances, restore sustainability, and repay the Company.
The EFSF is therefore able to rely on unique internal risk management and monitoring tools and on a largearray of information, which may not be publicly available.
The EFSF Management, through its Internal Risk Committee, reviews such information every quarter andmakes the final assessment about any significant increase in the credit risk attached to each lendingexposure.
Quantitative measures of SICR
The EFSF makes use of its internal risk monitoring tools together with other relevant sources of informationto identify any significant increase in credit risk and default status of its exposures.
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The EFSF monitors the performance and economic condition of its borrowers and its vulnerabilities anddetects early warning signals about their repayment capacity. The monitoring is based on a wide set ofconsiderations, like the government borrowing needs and economic strength, debt structure, fiscal position,financial sector and real estate developments, private sector leverage and credit flows.As such, the assessment reflects a wide range of macroeconomic variables relevant to credit risk in thecontext of sovereign lending, including short-term liquidity risks, medium to long term vulnerabilities anddebt sustainability. The results are used to produce an internal credit risk categorisation of the BMS, whichthen links into the stage allocation as per IFRS 9.
As a result of this process, as of 31 December 2020, all exposures to beneficiary Member States have beenassessed in Stage 1 under IFRS 9. For all lending exposures, no SICR occurred compared to the credit risklevel at inception of the transactions. The EFSF has not identified any significant indicators that wouldcontradict the conclusion reached on stage allocation, neither on the opening balances nor as at reportingdate.
For all three EFSF loan exposures, notwithstanding varying modalities, timing and context, theimplementation of the macroeconomic measures attached to the financial assistance and the successfulimplementation of the programmes have contributed to lowering beneficiary Member States’ credit risksince respective loan inceptions. The economic development of the BMS as compared to the inception of theEFSF programmes further evidences that BMS do not exhibit significant increase in credit risk since inception.All BMS have re-gained market access, fully or partially, which is one of the key goals of EFSF lending.
Treasury financial assets
For its investment portfolio (treasury financial assets), the EFSF performs assessment of the instruments heldconsidering external ratings and any other information deemed relevant in the assessment of the issuercredit risk.
Given its strict investment policy, the EFSF holds only highly rated instruments in its portfolios. Consequently,the probability of significant credit losses on those portfolios is very low.
An external rating of 'investment grade' (BBB-/Baa3 or above) is considered as an indicator that the financialinstrument has low credit risk and thus serves as a criterion for determining SICR.
The EFSF considers that a significant increase in credit risk for a financial instrument occurs when there is athree or more notches downgrade of its issuer’s rating, unless the financial instrument within EFSF’sinvestment portfolio is considered to exhibit low credit risk at the reporting date as described above.
For determining if significant increase in credit risk occurred, the EFSF uses the lowest rating among the threelargest external rating agencies: Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch.
At the onset of the pandemic crisis and during 2020, Risk Management performed credit risk scenarios ofEFSF investment counterparties whose ratings are more vulnerable to downward rating pressures due to theCOVID-19 pandemic. The analysis aimed to show the results of medium-term scenarios of how the creditrating of the EFSF investment portfolio counterparties could change in the future. The scenarios were usefulto see where the current EFSF investment portfolio was particularly vulnerable from the perspective ofpotential credit rating downgrades. The analysis did not identify significant increase in credit risk generatedby the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the EFSF investment portfolio.
As of 31 December 2020, no SICR occurred on any of the EFSF securities portfolio. Accordingly, all theseassets have been assessed in Stage 1 under IFRS 9.
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ii)  Measurement of the ECL
The ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and is measured as follows:

 financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: the present value of all cashshortfalls – i.e. the difference between the cash flows due as per contract, and the cash flows thatthe Institution expects to receive (discounted at the effective interest rate). This refers also toassets that are not credit-impaired but for which significant increase in credit risk has occurred;
 financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: the difference between the grosscarrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

For financial assets not showing a SICR compared to inception (Stage 1), the ECL is measured over a 12-monthperiod. For financial assets showing a SICR (Stage 2) or a default status (Stage 3), the ECL is measured overtheir lifetime.
iii)  Inputs and assumptions for ECL measurement

Inputs
While assessing the ECL, lenders must use a wide range of information. Such information must be relevantto the lender and specific to its environment and features.
Given the unique features of the EFSF loans, the attached conditionality and the limited number of exposures(albeit significant in value) along with privileged access to a large array of borrowers’ information, the EFSFadopts a primarily qualitative approach for the purpose of the estimation of the ECL. In particular, the EFSFrelies on the following sources of information:

 Risk assessment of the short-term liquidity position of the country, its market access, the medium-term economic and financial outlook and the long-term sustainability of public debt;
 Analysis provided by other international financial institutions (IFIs) to the ESM. The use of severaldifferent sources helps to better capture of the BMS’s ability to repay its financial obligations;
 Consideration of the current political environment and the possible measures available to increasethe BMS repayment capacity, at both national and EU level;
 Consideration of the BMS’s possible willingness to repay the loan or to enter into any remedyactions should financial difficulties occur, based on the current and expected politicalenvironment;
 The combination of any available market information, to complement the estimation of thelifetime expected credit losses.

Assumptions
A main feature of the approach used to measure the ECL in the EFSF environment, together with the selectedoption of using a primarily qualitative approach, is that the probability of default of a beneficiary memberstate in the short-term period (12 months) on the EFSF lending is nil. This is based on some institution-specificfeatures:

 The unique nature of the loans, also linked to the fact that such loans are granted at highlyfavourable terms, with a view to boosting the recovery of the BMS. It is therefore an essentialpriority for the BMS to maintain an accessible and active channel with the Company and preservea healthy relationship and a positive performance. Moreover, the difference with standard lendingactivities must be underlined. The EFSF does not only lend money, it offers financial assistance toBMS with the purpose of safeguarding financial stability within the euro area:
 The ability of the EFSF to access all needed information about the BMS, which gives to theCompany a higher predictive power compared to market indicators, reducing the degree ofuncertainty over the short-term period;
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 The constant interaction of the EFSF with the ESM and the possible support of other IFIs, whichare expected to address severe liquidity distress of euro area member states;
 The post-programme surveillance that, with the support of other institutional creditors,complements the EFSF monitoring system with insights on the economic and budgetarydevelopments of the countries, which is crucial to gauging its repayment capacity.

These elements and the specific context of the financial assistance to member states bring the creditmonitoring of the EFSF to a level that other lenders may not reach and neutralise the risk on the short-termhorizon.
Additional inputs into measurement of ECLs
For EFSF investment portfolios, external benchmark information (like credit ratings and associatedprobabilities of default) is used as a supplement to the internally produced data and assumptions (e.g.recovery rates).

iv)  Forward looking information
Under IFRS 9, the EFSF incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether thecredit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition and its measurement date ofthe ECL. The Company uses a combination of non-statistical quantitative and qualitative information in boththe stage allocation and the ECL measurement on the Loans to member states. On the securities portfolio, amodel based on external credit ratings of quoted instruments is used to calculate probability of default (PD)and loss given default (LGD) on the exposure at default (EAD) at reporting date.
The assessment of any increase in credit risk, which in turn leads to staging, includes the use of all relevantinformation from processes used by the EFSF to measure and monitor credit risk. These processes areregularly reviewed such that all exposures are allocated to a credit category on the most recent review orother information. Similarly, the ECL estimation captures a wide range of forward-looking information linkedto the credit risk performance of the BMS and its overall economic conditions over the relevant time horizon.

v)  Definition of default
Under IFRS 9, the EFSF considers a financial asset to be credit impaired (Stage 3) when default is consideredto have occurred with regard to a particular BMS, when either or both of the following criteria are met:

 past due criterion, which is defined based on the unique characteristics of EFSF loans anddetermines that, as foreseen by IFRS 9, the Institution can envisage the possibility of rebutting the90 days presumptions of the standard to a maximum period of 180 days for its exposures to BMS.For instance, when a delay is considered the consequence of a technical situation (as defined inIFRS 9.B5.5.37 as well as in Article 178 1(b) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013) or a longer thanexpected completion of certain administrative procedures. In all cases, EFSF will duly assesswhether the past due indicates that the asset is credit impaired and whether a default should berecognised;
 unlikely to pay criterion, according to which the borrower is considered as unlikely to pay its creditobligations in full, without realisation of collateral, regardless of the existence of any past-dueamount or of the number of days past due. Given the specific context of financial assistance tosovereigns, the likelihood of default cannot be assessed with standard market indicators; hence, itshould be assessed in relation to the EFSF mandate.

The EFSF uses institution-specific elements (e.g. BMS performance in implementing the agreedmacroeconomic measures), as well as market information when applicable and relevant. Factual indicatorsor events (e.g. breach of covenants) have a relevant impact on the assessment of the likelihood to default.Other indicators, like the non-payment of an obligation to other creditors, are duly considered and assessedon a case-by-case basis.
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In general, a BMS is considered unlikely to pay when the exposure to the BMS shows a significant and non-recoverable decrease in future cash flows compared to the contractual cash flows, or when the exposure tothe BMS is impaired as a result of creditors’ agreement following borrower’s difficulties (e.g. haircut granted).
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default, and their significance, may varyover time to reflect changes in circumstances.

vi) Impact on impairment and reconciliation
IFRS 9 requires a loss allowance to be recognised at an amount equal to either 12-month ECLs or lifetimeECLs. The EFSF calculates 12-month ECLs, except when a significant increase in credit risk occurs on a financialasset, which would then require the ECL calculation on a lifetime basis [IFRS9 9.5.5.4].
No impairment was recorded on financial assets as of 31 December 2020.

(c) Contract modification and financial asset derecognition
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for several reasons, including factors not related to acurrent or potential credit deterioration of the borrower (e.g. the re-profiling of a loan to support thebeneficiary Member State financial recovery in parallel with agreed macroeconomic measures). An existingloan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised, with a renegotiated loan recognised as a newloan at fair value.
Under IFRS 9, when the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result inderecognition of the asset, the determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantlyreflects the difference between:

 the remaining lifetime credit risk, based on the modified terms; and
 the remaining lifetime credit risk based on parameters at initial recognition and originalcontractual terms.

IFRS 9 contains specific guidance for the accounting when the modification of a financial instrument notmeasured at FVTPL does not result in derecognition. Under IFRS 9, the lender recalculates the gross carryingamount of the financial asset (or the amortised cost of the financial liability) by discounting the modifiedcontractual cash flows at the original effective interest rate and recognising any resulting adjustment as amodification gain or loss in profit or loss.
When a contract modification occurs, the EFSF compares the initial terms with the amended contract andassesses whether the modification:

 is substantial;
 requires derecognition;
 is done in relation to a SICR;
 impacts the ECL assessment on the financial asset.

As of 31 December 2020, no modification gain or loss related to the above requirements was identified. Anyre-profiling of lending contracts that occurred on existing exposures was made in the context of the financialassistance and in response to agreed macroeconomic measures. There was no modification done in responseof any specific credit deterioration, borrower’s difficulty or SICR. Any re-profiling of an EFSF loanreimbursement schedule is designed to be neutral for the Institution and therefore to have a non-substantialeffect when compared to the original contractual terms.
IFRS 9 does not specify thresholds for defining whether a modification is substantial, but it includes guidanceon such threshold for modification of a liability in [IFRS9.B3.3.6]. The EFSF follows that guidance to performthe assessment.
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2.5.2. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The Company holds its financial liabilities at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are derecognised whenextinguished.

(a) Debt securities in issue
Debt securities in issue are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and aresubsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) andthe redemption value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of theborrowings using the effective interest rate method.

(b) Prepaid Margin
Prepaid Margin, deducted from the loan amount at disbursement date and held as cash reserve, will be paidout to the borrowing countries and/or to the Member State Guarantors at maturity if all payments on theissued bonds are met. The proportional share of the margin before 21 July 2011 will be due to the MemberState Guarantors as a remuneration; the proportional share of the margin after 21 July 2011 may bereimbursed to the borrowing countries as a rebate. If there is a shortfall on the bond payments, the rebateamount will not be reimbursed to the borrowing country but used instead to meet the obligations arisingfrom the bond issue.
The Prepaid Margin amount paid out to the borrowing countries and the Member State Guarantors shouldinclude the initial amount plus the return on investments made from the Prepaid Margin.
The EFSF reports the nominal amount of the Prepaid Margin as ‘Liability against euro area member states’in the statement of financial position. The performance given by the underlying Treasury financial assetsportfolio invested from the proceeds of the Margin is also added in the same caption.

(c) Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary courseof business from suppliers. Trade payables are recognised initially at the transaction price and subsequentlymeasured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

2.6. PREPAYMENTS AND DEFERRED CHARGES
Prepayments are invoices received and paid in advance as the underlying expense is not or not exclusivelyrelated to the reporting period. Deferred charges are composed of invoices received during the year butrelating in part to the subsequent year.

2.7. PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result ofpast events, and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligationand the amount has been reliably estimated.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlementis determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle theobligation using a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risksspecific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interestexpense.
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2.8. SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity asa deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.9. LEGAL RESERVE
In accordance with Luxembourg Company law, the Company is required to transfer a minimum of 5% of itsnet profit for each financial year to a legal reserve. This requirement ends once the balance on the legalreserve reaches 10% of the issued share capital. The legal reserve is not available for distribution to theshareholders.

2.10. INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within interestincome and interest expense in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest ratemethod.
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or afinancial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. Theeffective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts throughthe expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carryingamount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Companyestimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepaymentoptions) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid orreceived between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transactioncosts and all other premiums or discounts.
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of animpairment loss, interest income is recognised using the initial effective interest rate to discount the futurecash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.11. STAFF COST
On 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the EFSF did not employ any staff and depends on the staffof the ESM. The EFSF has entered into a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with the ESM for the provision ofadministrative services and other support services to assist the EFSF in performing its activities.

2.12. TAXATION
The Company is domiciled in Luxembourg. As per the law dated 9 July 2010, there is no corporate incometax, net wealth tax, indirect tax or capital gains tax payable by the Company in Luxembourg.

European Financial Stability Facility QFSF European Financial Stability Facility QFSF 



Financial Statements

37

3. Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for thefollowing new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations:
ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
The following amended standards became effective for EFSF from 1 January 2020, but did not have anymaterial impact on EFSF:

 Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (issued on 29 March2018 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020);
 Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 – Definition of Material (issued on 31 October 2018 and effectivefor annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020);
 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS17: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (issued on 26September 2019 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020);
 Amendments to IFRS 3 – Business Combinations (issued on 22 October 2018 and effective forannual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020);
 Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (issued on 28 May 2020 andeffective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020).

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periodsbeginning on or after 1 January 2021 or later, and which EFSF has not early adopted. None of the belowstandards are expected to have any material impact on the financial statements when adopted:

 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (issued on 18 May 2017) including Amendments to IFRS 17 (issued on25 June 2020) (and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023);
 Amendments to IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts – Deferral on IFRS 9 (issued on 25 June 2020 andeffective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021);
 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Assets as Current orNon-current and Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Deferral of Effective date(issued on 23 January 2020 and 15 July 2020 respectively and effective for annual periods beginningor after 1 January 2023);
 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase2 (issued on 27 August 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021);
 Amendments to (all issued on 14 May 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning 1 January2020):

o IFRS 3 Business Combinations
o IFRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
o IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
o Annual Improvements 2018-2020
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4. Financial risk management
4.1. CREDIT RISK

Credit risk arises mainly from loans granted to the beneficiary euro area member states and also frominvestments in Treasury financial assets related to the support programmes.
Given the nature of the EFSF’s mandate, where credit risk from lending arises as a result of activitiesperformed in support of euro area Member State borrowers under a Financial Assistance Facility Agreement,the credit risk in the EFSF’s lending exposure must be accepted. As such, financial assistance in line with thepurpose of the EFSF is granted to euro area member states experiencing severe financial problems, ifindispensable to safeguard the financial stability of the euro area as a whole and of its members. Therefore,the assistance aims at providing financial support according to rules that differ from those of financialmarkets, meaning the overall aim is to accompany the euro area Member State borrower to a return to publicfinancial stability.
The determination and close monitoring of debt sustainability and the conditionality attached to all financialassistance to borrower euro area member states, as negotiated with the European Commission in liaisonwith the ECB and whenever possible the IMF, are aimed at addressing and substantially reducing credit risk.Moreover, the EFSF applies an early warning procedure to monitor the ability of the euro area member stateborrower to repay its obligations.
From an investor’s point of view, the loan programmes were carefully designed to assure the EFSF’screditworthiness. To mitigate the exposure to the credit risk of the euro area Member State borrower, theCompany has adopted a number of credit enhancement measures, namely:

 irrevocable and unconditional guarantees granted by euro area member states on the issuedbonds;
 a general Cash Reserve from the loan (equal to the sum of a service fee and the present valueof the Margin) which can be used to fund shortfalls on all loans made by the EFSF;
 a Loan Specific Cash Buffer from the loan and by retaining the Negative Carry payment.

The Loan Specific Cash Buffer, in relation to loans under EFSF 1, ensures that the principal amount of debtsecurities (together with the interest) issued to fund that loan is at the date of issuance fully covered by thesum of:
 the aggregate amount of guarantees of Guarantors with the highest quality rating (taking intoaccount the 120% guarantee coverage);
 the cash reserve retained from the Loan (financed out of Prepaid Margin and the Service Fee);
 the Negative Carry payment retained in respect of such Loan;
 the applicable Loan Specific Cash Buffer and;
 any other credit enhancement (if any) that is adopted pursuant to the Framework Agreement.

Under the amended EFSF 2.1 framework, adopted by the Board of Directors on 27 October 2011, the creditenhancement mechanism was changed to focus on a higher level of over-guarantee of up to 165%, whichmeant that the above-mentioned general Cash Reserve and Loan Specific Cash Buffer were no longerrequired.
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4.1.1. RISK CONCENTRATIONS: EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK WITHOUT TAKING ACCOUNT OFANY COLLATERAL AND OTHER CREDIT ENHANCEMENTS
The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement offinancial position without taking into account any collateral and other credit enhancements. For on-balance-sheet positions, the exposures set out hereafter are based on net carrying amounts as reported in thestatement of financial position.

Maximum credit exposure
(in € '000) 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Cash and cash equivalents 7,103,441 10,130,223
Loans to euro area member states 185,066,378 183,991,181
Treasury financial assets 1,551,117 1,364,885
Prepayments and other receivables 214 230
On balance sheet credit risk exposure 193,721,150 195,486,519
4.1.2. CREDIT RISK ON LOANS TO EURO AREA MEMBER STATES

The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the loans to countriesin financial difficulties, by geography of counterparties.
Credit exposure

(in € '000) 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Loans under EFSF 1
- to Ireland 4,236,447 4,242,880
- to Portugal 6,199,068 6,189,861
Loans under EFSF 2.1
- to Ireland 14,358,779 14,358,661
- to Portugal 19,317,294 19,331,068
- to Greece 140,954,790 139,868,711
Loans to euro area member states 185,066,378 183,991,181
IFRS 9 requires recognising a loss allowance equal to either 12-month ECLs or lifetime ECLs. The EFSFcalculates 12-month ECLs, except when a significant increase in credit risk occurs on a financial asset, whichwould then require the ECL calculation on a lifetime basis [IFRS9 9.5.5.4].
The stage allocation returned Stage 1 for all lending exposures. No impairment was recorded on lendingexposures as of 31 December 2020.

4.1.3. CREDIT RISK ON TREASURY FINANCIAL ASSETS
For treasury financial assets, which principally contain those funds that serve as credit enhancement, theEFSF established strict investment guidelines that focus on low-risk asset classes and issuers with the highestcredit standings in euro. The guidelines include a limit structure to mitigate the maximum exposure percounterparty. At the reporting date, the EFSF invested in euro area government and government-relatedbonds as well as bonds issued by supranational institutions. All bonds are denominated in euro.
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4.1.4. CREDIT RATINGS
The following tables show the breakdown of the financial assets by credit rating from Moody’s, Standard &Poor’s, and Fitch. In respect of debt securities including fixed-income securities, the credit ratings ofindividual issuances (or in the case of short-term securities their long-term rating equivalents) are presented.If issuance ratings are not available, the issuer’s rating is presented. For other financial assets, the creditratings of the counterparties are presented.

(1) ‘Cash and cash equivalents include balances placed with Eurosystem central banks, which do not haveratings

(in € '000) Moody’s Standard &Poor’s Fitch Balance as of31.12.2020
Cash and cash equivalents(1) NR NR NR 6,958,542

Aa2 AA+ NR 144,899
Loans to euro area memberstates A2 AA- A+ 18,595,226

Baa3 BBB BBB 25,516,362
Ba3 BB- BB 140,954,790

Treasury financial assets NR AAA NR 50,097
Aaa AA AA 66,758
Aa2 AA AA 299,827
Aa2 AA NR 1,134,435

Prepayments and otherreceivables Ba3 BB- BB 214

Total 193,721,150

(in € '000) Moody’s Standard &Poor’s Fitch Balance as of31.12.2019
Cash and cash equivalents(1) NR NR NR 10,120,060

Aa2 AA+ NR 10,163
Loans to euro area memberstates A2 AA- A+ 18,601,541

Baa3 BBB BBB 25,520,929
B1 BB- BB- 139,868,711

Treasury financial assets Aaa AAA AAA 490,244
Aaa AA AAA 69,275
Aa2 NR AA 805,366

Prepayments and otherreceivables B1 BB- BB- 230
Total 195,486,519
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4.2. MARKET RISK
At present, EFSF loans are longer in maturity than its funding, hence there is a structural maturity mismatchwhich gives rise to refinancing risk.
Until November 2011, the EFSF used a back-to-back approach to funding, whereby liabilities were matchedexactly to assets. It then adopted a diversified funding strategy. Under the new strategy, funds are notattributed directly to a particular loan or loans,but pooled to support disbursements to beneficiary countries.A combination of long and short-term instruments is used, and any cash raised in excess of lendingrequirements serves as a liquidity buffer, a key component of this approach. As a consequence of thediversified funding strategy, the EFSF accepts mismatches between its assets and its liabilities. The averagecost of funding is, however, invoiced to beneficiary countries, neutralising the EFSF’s structural interest rateexposure in financial terms.
The financial assets for the credit enhancement portfolios follow a strict maturity profile in accordance withthe related funding programme. The EFSF’s financial assets are in practice generally held to maturity.Although market risk is assumed on the portfolio from one accounting period to the next, the impact on theEFSF over the life of the investments is therefore limited.

4.2.1. INTEREST RATE RISK
Securities issued, and the treasury financial assets, are fixed or floating rate products. Loans and receivablesgranted to the beneficiary Member States are also fixed or floating-rate products, reflecting perfectly thecost of funding the EFSF incurs in financing these loans.
As at 31 December 2020, the sensitivity to a general movement in the interest rate yield curve on the treasuryfinancial assets portfolio was €−0.1 million in fair-value reserve for a one basis-point parallel increase in rates(2019: €−0.2 million). Investments are all managed under formal guidance that specifies a maximum maturitydate for each tranche of credit enhancement. Although the stated interest rate risk applies to EFSF equity onan accounting period basis via the treasury financial assets rules (refer to Note 9), it is not a risk that is activelymanaged or mitigated since the programmes concerned have stipulated that bonds should be purchasedwith proceeds from EFSF issuance and are constrained to certain fixed maturity dates. Additionally,investment of the periodic coupons from bond holdings and of any cash buffer takes place from time to time.

4.2.2. CURRENCY RISK
All the debt securities issued, and the loans and receivables granted to the programme countries, as well asthe treasury financial assets portfolio, are denominated in euros. The Company does not therefore face anycurrency risk.

4.3. LIQUIDITY RISK
The EFSF monitors its liquidity position on a regular basis and will honour its obligations under its issuedbonds and bills from proceeds that stem from its support programmes.
The EFSF required payments under its issued bonds and bills benefit from euro area member stateguarantees. There is an established and detailed procedure which governs the operation of these guarantees.The EFSF makes a demand to euro area member state guarantors under the Deed of Guarantees if itdetermines on any date during the calculation period or the cut-off period as defined in the Deed ofGuarantees that it has a cash shortfall in available funds in respect to the payments scheduled to be madeon the relevant due date.
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The loan-specific cash buffer and other cash buffers are established in line with the EFSF FrameworkAgreement, and constitute liquid assets from which the EFSF will be able to assure payments under its issuedbonds and bills. Surplus cash held by the Company over and above the balance required for working capitalmanagement is invested in interest-bearing current accounts, time deposits, money market deposits andmarketable securities. Instruments are chosen with appropriate maturities and sufficient liquidity to provideadequate headroom, as determined by EFSF forecasts.
The following table analyses the gross undiscounted cash outflows and inflows on the Company’s financialassets and liabilities by maturity on the basis of the period remaining between the balance sheet date andthe contractual maturity date. If financial assets and liabilities have undeterminable future cash flows, thenonly the known cash flows are presented in the table below.

As at 31 December 2020(in € '000) Up to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 7,103,441 - - 7,103,441
Loans to euro area memberstates 2,318,348 14,230,138 190,033,832 206,582,318
Treasury financial assets 1,492,763 - - 1,492,763
Prepayments and otherreceivables 214 - - 214

Total financial assets 10,914,766 14,230,138 190,033,832 215,178,736
LIABILITIES
Debt securities in issue 22,678,620 79,687,738 112,686,483 215,052,841
Liability against euro areamember states 1,410,085 - - 1,410,085
Trade and other payables 9,739 - - 9,739
Total financial liabilities 24,098,444 79,687,738 112,686,483 216,472,665
Net of financial position (13,183,678) (65,457,600) 77,347,349 (1,293,929)
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As at 31 December 2019(in € '000) Up to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 10,130,223 - - 10,130,223
Loans to euro area memberstates 2,620,604 11,480,480 194,116,348 208,217,432
Treasury financial assets 42,292 1,315,294 - 1,357,586
Prepayments and otherreceivables 230 - - 230

Total financial assets 12,793,349 12,795,774 194,116,348 219,705,471
LIABILITIES
Debt securities in issue 24,020,809 81,415,837 113,220,249 218,656,895
Liability against euro areamember states 551,416 862,243 - 1,413,659
Trade and other payables 9,579 - - 9,579
Total financial liabilities 24,581,804 82,278,080 113,220,249 220,080,133
Net of financial position (11,788,455) (69,482,306) 80,896,099 (374,662)
4.4. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objective when managing capital is safeguarding its activity. The Company’s lending costsreflect funding costs and operational costs. The Company is entitled to charge up-front service fees andannual service fees to cover its operational costs. The shareholders, if necessary and as occurred in 2011, arewilling to raise capital to support the Company’s capital structure.
The Management regularly monitors the Company’s capital structure on the basis of the ratio of totalshareholders’ equity excluding revaluation reserve per ordinary shares. On 31 December 2020, this ratio was2,791% (2019: 2,807%).
The Company shall be dissolved and liquidated when its purpose is fulfilled, in other words, when theCompany has received full repayment of the financing granted to the member states and has repaid itsliabilities under the financial instruments issued and financing arrangements entered into.

4.5. SICR AND ECL ASSESMENT IN THE CONTEXT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC
During 2020, the EFSF risk assessment and impairment assessment methodology duly captured the severeimpact from the pandemic, together with the related risks and the recent developments. In particular, theassessment focused on whether the effects of the pandemic triggered a significant increase in credit risk(SICR) and if it would materialise in an expected credit loss (ECL), in accordance with IFRS 9 requirements. Inthat context, a complete assessment of a wide range of inputs was performed, to ensure a comprehensiveassessment of all short-term and medium-to-long term factors and consequences. As described above, inputsinclude short-term economic data, vulnerability indicators, liquidity balances and market indicators, togetherwith medium-to-long term risks, policy measures and mitigating factors.
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All those factors, and in particular the strong liquidity position and market access of BMS, is expected toadequately balance the economic shock caused by the pandemic and address the related risks. The liquidityrisk can be a major concern in a crisis context, therefore the positive funding performance of BMS, includingthe most vulnerable ones, represent a remarkable balancing element. Because of this and all elementsincluded, as of 31 December 2020 the assessment did not identify a significant increase in credit risk on itsexposures to BMS. The overall credit quality of the EFSF loans portfolio remained relatively stable.
5. Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderlytransaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, themost advantageous market to which the Company has access at that date.
When applicable, the Company measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an activemarket for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take placewith sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis.
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities cannot be derived from active markets, theyare determined using valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to thesemodels is taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree ofjudgement is required in establishing fair values. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all the factorsthat market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.
The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance ofthe inputs used in making the measurements:

 Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assetor liability, either directly or indirectly
 Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reportingperiod during which the change has occurred.
The following tables set out a comparison of the fair value, by the level of the fair value hierarchy, and thecarrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are carried in the financialstatements. The tables do not include the fair value of non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities. Forfinancial instruments not carried at fair value, fair values are provided for disclosure purposes only and donot impact the balance sheet or income statement.
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Fair value
31 December 2020(in € '000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Assets notcarried atfair value Total Carryingamount
Assets carried at fairvalue:
Treasury financialassets 1,551,117 - - - 1,551,117 1,551,117
Total 1,551,117 - - - 1,551,117 1,551,117
Assets not carried atfair value:
Cash and cashequivalents - - - 7,103,441 7,103,441 7,103,441
Prepayments andother receivables - - - 214 214 214
Total - - - 7,103,655 7,103,655 7,103,655
Assets carried atamortised cost:
Loans to euro areamember states(1) - - - 185,066,378 185,066,378 185,066,378
Total - - - 185,066,378 185,066,378 185,066,378
Total financial assets 1,551,117 - - 192,170,033 193,721,150 193,721,150
Liabilities carried atamortised cost:
Debt securities inissue 186,817,872 31,186,871 - - 218,004,743 191,350,731
Liability against euroarea member states - 1,560,524 - - 1,560,524 1,553,915
Trade and otherpayables - - - 9,739 9,739 9,739
Total 186,817,872 32,747,395 - 9,739 219,575,006 192,914,385
Total financialliabilities 186,817,872 32,747,395 - 9,739 219,575,006 192,914,385
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Fair value
31 December 2019(in € '000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Assets notcarried atfair value Total Carryingamount
Assets carried at fairvalue:
Treasury financialassets 1,364,885 - - - 1,364,885 1,364,885
Total 1,364,885 - - - 1,364,885 1,364,885
Assets not carried atfair value:
Cash and cashequivalents - - - 10,130,223 10,130,223 10,130,223
Prepayments andother receivables - - - 230 230 230
Total - - - 10,130,453 10,130,453 10,130,453
Assets carried atamortised cost:
Loans to euro areamember states(1) - - - 183,991,181 183,991,181 183,991,181
Total - - - 183,991,181 183,991,181 183,991,181
Total financial assets 1,364,885 - - 194,121,634 195,486,519 195,486,519
Liabilities carried atamortised cost:
Debt securities inissue 188,932,042 22,142,210 - - 211,074,252 193,133,608
Liability against euroarea member states - 1,523,778 - - 1,523,778 1,490,194
Trade and otherpayables - - - 9,579 9,579 9,579
Total 188,932,042 23,665,988 - 9,579 212,607,609 194,633,381
Total financialliabilities 188,932,042 23,665,988 - 9,579 212,607,609 194,633,381

Assets for which carrying value approximates fair value
For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or have a short-term maturity (under three months),it is assumed that the carrying amount approximates their fair value.
(1) Loans to euro area member states
The EFSF plays a unique role in providing financial assistance support to beneficiary Member States. The EFSFfinancing features policy conditions that require beneficiary Member States to implement macroeconomicand structural policies and are an integral part of the EFSF financing support.These measures aim to help beneficiary Member States to resolve their financial needs while safeguardingthe EFSF resources.In light of this specificity, the fair value of the EFSF loans to euro area member states is not relevant.
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Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value
Published price quotations in an active market are the first source for determining the fair value of a financialinstrument. For instruments without an available market price, fair values are estimated using valuationtechniques or models based whenever possible on observable market data prevailing at the balance sheetdate.
Debt securities in issue
Published price quotations in an active market are the first source for determining the fair value of the debtsecurities in issue. If public price is not available, especially for private placement in the case of back-to-backfunding, the fair value is determined using valuation techniques with observable inputs. For such cases, thefair value is calculated using a discounted cash flow model, which takes into account specific factors such asthe funding cost of other debt securities in issue with available published price quotations.
Liability against euro area member states
The item ‘Liability against euro area member states’ represents amounts collected and held by the EFSF andwhich are due to euro area member states, such as the margin in relation to the financial assistanceprogrammes under EFSF 1 and the guarantee commission fee. Since the amounts are invested until theirpayment is due, the fair value is determined based on the fair value of the underlying investments. This fairvalue will not necessarily reflect the final liability due at payment date.

6. Critical accounting estimates and judgments
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Up-front service fee amortisation under EFSF 2.1
For the loans granted to Ireland, Greece, and Portugal under EFSF 2.1, the EFSF charged an up-front servicefee of 0.5% of the notional amount of the loan to cover its operational cost. The EFSF recognises the up-frontservice fees over a seven-year period, matching them as closely as possible to the economy of the businessand to the occurrences of the expenses to be covered by those fees. In 2020, €19.7 million(2019: €73.9 million) in service fees was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income underinterest revenue calculated using the effective interest method.
Impairment of loans and receivables
The EFSF, in accordance with IFRS 9 requirements, reviews its loans and receivables at each reporting dateto assess whether an impairment loss must be recorded, as described in Note 2.5.1.
For loans to euro area member state, given the EFSF’s specific mandate as described in Note 4.1, judgementby the Company’s management is required for the SICR assessment and the determination of the ECL. Suchjudgement follows specific policies in place to closely monitor the ability of the borrower to repay itsobligations, as described in Note 2.5.1.
The fair value of loans and receivables at initial recognition
The fair value of the loans to euro area member states at initial recognition is deemed to be the cashconsideration to originate a purchase of the loans including any transaction costs given that these loans toeuro area member states are made in line with the Company’s specific mandate as described in Note 4.1.
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7. Cash and cash equivalents
The composition of cash and cash equivalents is as follows:
(in € '000) 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Cash at bank and on hand 6,958,542 10,120,060
Short-term bank deposits 144,899 10,163
Total cash and cash equivalents 7,103,441 10,130,223

8. Loans to euro area member states
The following table shows the geographical breakdown of loans per financial assistance programmes and byborrowing country:

(in € '000) Nominal amount
Carrying value as at31 December 2020

Loans under EFSF 1
  - to Ireland 4,193,836 4,236,447
  - to Portugal 6,127,669 6,199,068
Loans under EFSF 2.1
  - to Ireland 14,216,833 14,358,779
  - to Portugal 19,200,623 19,318,294
  - to Greece 130,909,126 140,953,790
Total 174,648,087 185,066,378

(in € '000) Nominal amount
Carrying value as at31 December 2019

Loans under EFSF 1
  - to Ireland 4,193,836 4,242,880
  - to Portugal 6,127,669 6,189,861
Loans under EFSF 2.1
  - to Ireland 14,216,833 14,358,661
  - to Portugal 19,200,623 19,331,068
  - to Greece 130,909,126 139,868,711
Total 174,648,087 183,991,181
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The following table shows the movements of the loans to euro area member states:
(in € '000)                     31.12.2020                     31.12.2019
Balance as at 1 January 183,991,181 184,758,238
Repayments - (2,000,000)
  - from Portugal - (2,000,000)
Discount amortisation 12,353 11,916
Up-front service fee amortisation 19,681 73,906
Change in accrued interest and loan related fees 1,043,163 1,147,121
Balance as at 31 December 185,066,378 183,991,181
From the total balance of ‘Loans to euro area member states’, an amount of €1.2 billion (2019: €3.0 billion)is due within 12 months and is considered as a current asset. This amount consists entirely of interest andfee accruals as there are no repayments of nominal amounts due within 12 months. ‘Change in accruedinterest and loan related fees’ includes the change in deferred interest under the financial assistanceprogramme for Greece for an amount of €1.1 billion (2019: €1.4 billion).

9. Treasury financial assets
Treasury financial assets are mainly composed of a portfolio of debt instruments. The following table showsthe movements in the treasury financial assets:
(in € '000)                  31.12.2020                  31.12.2019
Balance on 1 January 1,364,885 1,427,659
Additions 719,284 10,500
Disposals (483,733) (29,525)
Discount and premium amortisation 6,648 (1,739)
Change in accrued interest (14,122) (304)
Change in fair value (41,845) (41,706)
Balance on 31 December 1,551,117 1,364,885
On 31 December 2020, the amortised cost of the treasury financial assets was €1.5 billion (2019:€1.3 billion), against a market value of €1.6 billion (2019: €1.4 billion). The differences present the fair-valueunrealised gain as revaluation reserve, which amounted on 31 December 2020 to €11.0 million (2019: €52.8million).
From the total balance of the treasury financial assets, an amount of €18.7 million (2019: €32.8 million) isdue within 12 months and considered as a current asset. This amount represents interest accruals.
The fair values of the treasury financial assets are determined based on quoted market prices whichrepresent the first level of the fair value hierarchy (refer to Note 5).
There was no change in valuation techniques during the year. The EFSF’s policy is to recognise the transfersbetween Levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

European Financial Stability Facility QFSF European Financial Stability Facility QFSF 



Financial Statements

50

10. Prepayments and other receivables
On 31 December 2020, the prepayments were entirely composed of invoices paid in advance and amountedto €214,000 (2019: € 230,000).

11. Debt securities in issue
The table below discloses details of debt outstanding on 31 December 2020, together with applicable ratesand maturity dates.
Financial assistanceprogrammes ISIN code Nominal Amount(in € '000) Maturity date Coupon
Issues under EFSF 1
Portugal EU000A1G0AB4 5,000,000 05/07/2021 3.375%
Issues under EFSF 2.1
Ireland EU000A1G0AD0 3,000,000 04/02/2022 3.500%
Greece EU000A1G0A57⁽¹⁾ 1,140,000 19/12/2022 0.103%
Greece EU000A1G0A65⁽¹⁾ 1,262,000 19/12/2023 0.113%
Greece EU000A1G0A73⁽¹⁾ 1,540,000 19/12/2024 0.123%
Greece EU000A1G0AP4⁽¹⁾ 1,642,000 19/04/2021 0.444%
Greece EU000A1G0AQ2⁽¹⁾ 1,660,000 19/04/2022 0.504%
Greece EU000A1G0D05 4,500,000 05/09/2040 1.450%
Greece EU000A1G0DL7 3,500,000 13/02/2043 1.700%
Greece EU000A1G0DN3 2,500,000 28/02/2056 2.000%
Greece EU000A1G0DR4 6,000,000 03/05/2027 0.750%
Greece EU000A1G0DT0 6,000,000 24/05/2033 1.250%
Greece EU000A1G0DW4 4,800,000 10/07/2048 1.800%
Greece EU000A1G0D96 2,000,000 17/07/2053 1.750%
Issues under long termfunding
Long-term EU000A1G0A16 3,974,350 05/09/2022 2.250%
Long-term EU000A1G0AJ7 2,500,000 30/03/2032 3.875%
Long-term EU000A1G0EC4 3,000,000 19/04/2024 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0AT6 3,500,000 03/04/2037 3.375%
Long-term EU000A1G0BC0 5,000,000 23/05/2023 1.875%
Long-term EU000A1G0EG5 4,000,000 20/01/2050 0.700%
Long-term EU000A1G0BJ5 3,000,000 04/09/2034 3.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0EK7 3,000,000 13/10/2027 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0BL1 1,500,000 03/12/2029 2.750%
Long-term EU000A1G0EE0 5,000,000 17/10/2029 0.050%
Long-term EU000A1G0BN7 4,000,000 19/02/2024 2.125%
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Financial assistanceprogrammes ISIN code Nominal Amount(in € '000) Maturity date Coupon
Long-term EU000A1G0BP2 5,000,000 07/06/2021 1.375%
Long-term EU000A1G0BQ0 4,500,000 27/06/2024 1.750%
Long-term EU000A1G0D39 5,000,000 17/10/2023 0.125%
Long-term EU000A1G0DB8 4,000,000 29/07/2044 2.350%
Long-term EU000A1G0DC6 3,968,500 20/01/2023 0.500%
Long-term EU000A1G0DD4 4,500,000 17/02/2045 1.200%
Long-term EU000A1G0DE2 3,000,000 28/04/2025 0.200%
Long-term EU000A1G0EF7 3,000,000 17/07/2023 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0DG7 4,997,150 19/01/2021 0.100%
Long-term EU000A1G0DH5 5,000,000 31/05/2026 0.400%
Long-term EU000A1G0DJ1 4,500,000 31/05/2047 1.375%
Long-term EU000A1G0DK9 4,988,600 17/11/2022 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0DL7 1,500,000 13/02/2043 1.700%
Long-term EU000A1G0DM5 4,000,000 29/03/2021 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0DQ6 4,000,000 11/10/2024 0.375%
Long-term EU000A1G0DV6 3,495,550 11/07/2025 0.500%
Long-term EU000A1G0DY0 4,500,000 26/07/2027 0.875%
Long-term EU000A1G0EA8 4,000,000 17/01/2024 0.200%
Long-term EU000A1G0D70 5,000,000 14/02/2028 0.950%
Long-term EU000A1G0D88 3,999,800 16/10/2026 0.625%
Long-term EU000A1G0D62 6,000,000 17/02/2025 0.400%
Long-term EU000A1G0ED2 4,000,000 10/04/2035 0.875%
Long-term EU000A1G0EB6 5,000,000 26/01/2026 0.400%
Long-term EU000A1G0D96 1,000,000 17/07/2053 1.750%
Long-term EU000A1G0EJ9 4,000,000 15/10/2025 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0EH3 3,000,000 24/04/2023 0.000%
Long-term EFSFNBOND001⁽²⁾ 25,000 31/08/2046 0.771%
Long-term EFSFNBOND002⁽²⁾ 50,000 20/03/2037 1.450%
Long-term EFSFNBOND003⁽²⁾ 27,000 10/05/2055 1.900%
Long-term EFSFNBOND004⁽²⁾ 101,000 11/05/2048 1.820%
Long-term EFSFNBOND005⁽²⁾ 40,000 07/06/2056 1.775%
Long-term EFSFNBOND006⁽²⁾ 30,000 23/03/2048 1.520%
Long-term EFSFNBOND007⁽²⁾ 50,000 20/12/2046 1.582%
Long-term EFSFNBOND008⁽²⁾ 50,000 22/02/2056 1.794%
Long-term EFSFNBOND009⁽²⁾ 125,000 23/02/2056 1.770%
Long-term EFSFNBOND010⁽²⁾ 60,000 15/02/2049 1.495%
Long-term EFSFNBOND011⁽²⁾ 97,000 25/06/2054 1.132%
Long-term EFSFNBOND012⁽²⁾ 30,000 24/03/2054 0.410%
Long-term EFSFNBOND013⁽²⁾ 25,000 10/09/2054 0.420%
Long-term EFSFNBOND014⁽²⁾ 30,000 24/09/2053 0.285%
Long-term EFSFNBOND015⁽²⁾ 25,000 30/09/2054 0.499%
Long-term EFSFNBOND016⁽²⁾ 30,000 20/12/2052 0.322%
Long-term EFSFNBOND017⁽²⁾ 50,000 31/01/2056 0.663%
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Financial assistanceprogrammes ISIN code Nominal Amount(in € '000) Maturity date Coupon
Long-term EFSFNBOND018⁽²⁾ 25,000 17/09/2055 0.340%
Total 189,837,950

(1) For floating rate bonds, the rate applicable on the balance sheet date is presented
(2) N-bond with technical ISIN: N-Bonds (Namensschuldverschreibungen) are privately-placed, long-termfunding instruments that are neither centrally cleared nor listed.

The table below discloses the details of debt outstanding on 31 December 2019, together with applicablerates and maturity dates.
Financial assistanceprogrammes ISIN code Nominal Amount(in € '000) Maturity date Coupon
Issues under EFSF 1
Portugal EU000A1G0AB4 5,000,000 05/07/2021 3.375%
Issues under EFSF 2.1
Ireland EU000A1G0AD0 3,000,000 04/02/2022 3.500%
Greece EU000A1G0A57(1) 1,140,000 19/12/2022 0.103%
Greece EU000A1G0A65(1) 1,262,000 19/12/2023 0.113%
Greece EU000A1G0A73(1) 1,540,000 19/12/2024 0.123%
Greece EU000A1G0AN9(1) 1,710,000 20/04/2020 0.374%
Greece EU000A1G0AP4(1) 1,642,000 19/04/2021 0.444%
Greece EU000A1G0AQ2(1) 1,660,000 19/04/2022 0.504%
Greece EU000A1G0D05 4,500,000 05/09/2040 1.450%
Greece EU000A1G0DL7 3,500,000 13/02/2043 1.700%
Greece EU000A1G0DN3 2,500,000 28/02/2056 2.000%
Greece EU000A1G0DR4 6,000,000 03/05/2027 0.750%
Greece EU000A1G0DT0 6,000,000 24/05/2033 1.250%
Greece EU000A1G0DW4 4,800,000 10/07/2048 1.800%
Greece EU000A1G0D96 2,000,000 17/07/2053 1.750%
Issues under long termfunding
Long-term EU000A1G0A16 3,974,350 05/09/2022 2.250%
Long-term EU000A1G0A81 8,000,000 22/01/2020 1.500%
Long-term EU000A1G0AJ7 2,500,000 30/03/2032 3.875%
Long-term EU000A1G0EC4 3,000,000 19/04/2024 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0AT6 3,500,000 03/04/2037 3.375%
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Financial assistanceprogrammes ISIN code Nominal Amount(in € '000) Maturity date Coupon
Long-term EU000A1G0BC0 5,000,000 23/05/2023 1.875%
Long-term EU000A1G0BG1 5,986,250 17/07/2020 1.625%
Long-term EU000A1G0BJ5 3,000,000 04/09/2034 3.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0BK3 6,000,000 29/10/2020 1.750%
Long-term EU000A1G0BL1 1,500,000 03/12/2029 2.750%
Long-term EU000A1G0EE0 3,500,000 17/10/2029 0.050%
Long-term EU000A1G0BN7 4,000,000 19/02/2024 2.125%
Long-term EU000A1G0BP2 5,000,000 07/06/2021 1.375%
Long-term EU000A1G0BQ0 4,500,000 27/06/2024 1.750%
Long-term EU000A1G0D39 5,000,000 17/10/2023 0.125%
Long-term EU000A1G0DB8 4,000,000 29/07/2044 2.350%
Long-term EU000A1G0DC6 3,968,500 20/01/2023 0.500%
Long-term EU000A1G0DD4 4,500,000 17/02/2045 1.200%
Long-term EU000A1G0DE2 3,000,000 28/04/2025 0.200%
Long-term EU000A1G0EF7 3,000,000 17/07/2023 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0DG7 4,997,150 19/01/2021 0.100%
Long-term EU000A1G0DH5 5,000,000 31/05/2026 0.400%
Long-term EU000A1G0DJ1 4,500,000 31/05/2047 1.375%
Long-term EU000A1G0DK9 4,988,600 17/11/2022 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0DL7 1,500,000 13/02/2043 1.700%
Long-term EU000A1G0DM5 4,000,000 29/03/2021 0.000%
Long-term EU000A1G0DQ6 4,000,000 11/10/2024 0.375%
Long-term EU000A1G0DV6 3,495,550 11/07/2025 0.500%
Long-term EU000A1G0DY0 4,500,000 26/07/2027 0.875%
Long-term EU000A1G0EA8 4,000,000 17/01/2024 0.200%
Long-term EU000A1G0D70 5,000,000 14/02/2028 0.950%
Long-term EU000A1G0D88 3,000,000 16/10/2026 0.625%
Long-term EU000A1G0D62 6,000,000 17/02/2025 0.400%
Long-term EU000A1G0ED2 3,000,000 10/04/2035 0.875%
Long-term EU000A1G0EB6 3,000,000 26/01/2026 0.400%
Long-term EU000A1G0D96 1,000,000 17/07/2053 1.750%
Long-term EFSFNBOND001⁽²⁾ 25,000 31/08/2046 0.771%
Long-term EFSFNBOND002⁽²⁾ 50,000 20/03/2037 1.450%
Long-term EFSFNBOND003⁽²⁾ 27,000 10/05/2055 1.900%
Long-term EFSFNBOND004⁽²⁾ 101,000 11/05/2048 1.820%
Long-term EFSFNBOND005⁽²⁾ 40,000 07/06/2056 1.775%
Long-term EFSFNBOND006⁽²⁾ 30,000 23/03/2048 1.520%
Long-term EFSFNBOND007⁽²⁾ 50,000 20/12/2046 1.582%
Long-term EFSFNBOND008⁽²⁾ 50,000 22/02/2056 1.794%
Long-term EFSFNBOND009⁽²⁾ 125,000 23/02/2056 1.770%
Long-term EFSFNBOND010⁽²⁾ 60,000 15/02/2049 1.495%
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Financial assistanceprogrammes ISIN code Nominal Amount(in € '000) Maturity date Coupon
Long-term EFSFNBOND011⁽²⁾ 97,000 25/06/2054 1.132%
Long-term EFSFNBOND012⁽²⁾ 30,000 24/03/2054 0.410%
Long-term EFSFNBOND013⁽²⁾ 25,000 10/09/2054 0.420%
Long-term EFSFNBOND014⁽²⁾ 30,000 24/09/2053 0.285%
Long-term EFSFNBOND015⁽²⁾ 25,000 30/09/2054 0.499%
Long-term EFSFNBOND016⁽²⁾ 30,000 20/12/2052 0.322%
Long-term EFSFNBOND017⁽²⁾ 50,000 31/01/2056 0.663%
Total 192,009,400

(1) For floating rate bonds, the rate applicable on the balance sheet date is presented
(2) N-bond with technical ISIN: N-Bonds (Namensschuldverschreibungen) are privately-placed, long-termfunding instruments that are neither centrally cleared nor listed.
The following table shows the movements in carrying amount of the debt securities in issue:
(in € '000)                           31.12.2020                           31.12.2019
Balance on 1 January 193,133,608 191,731,143
Issuance during the year 20,053,280 20,678,729
Maturities during the year (21,696,250) (19,210,000)
Premium amortisation (4,485) 49,192
Change in accrued interest (135,422) (115,456)
Balance on 31 December 191,350,731 193,133,608
On 31 December 2020 all debt securities in issue are backed by irrevocable and unconditional guarantees ofthe euro area member states.
From the total balance of ‘Debt securities in issue’, an amount of €21.9 billion (2019: €23.1 billion) is duewithin 12 months and considered as a current liability. This amount includes interest accruals of issued debtand the carrying value of securities maturing within 12 months.
On 31 December 2020, the total fair value of the debt securities in issue (including their accrued interest)amounted to €218.0 billion (2019: €211.1 billion) based on quoted market prices.
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12. Liability against euro area member states
Under the financial assistance programmes running under EFSF 1, the Margin deducted from the loanamount at disbursement date is booked as an amount held as cash reserve. This Margin will be paid out atmaturity if all payments on the issued bonds are met. If there is a shortfall on the loan payments, this will beused to meet the obligations arising from the bond issue.
The Margin is accrued on a pro rata basis. For disbursements occurred until 21 July 2011, the related Marginwill be paid to the Member State Guarantors, while for disbursements occurred after that date the Margincan be paid back to beneficiary Member States as a rebate. The payments at maturity should equal the initialMargin amount and any investment return (interests) on the underlying made from the respective part ofthe cash reserve.
This Margin is included in the balance sheet position ‘Liability against euro area member states’.
Moreover, the EFSF is entitled to charge 10 basis points of guarantee commission fee for loans granted underEFSF 2.1 where this fee is the remuneration for the guarantor member states. In parallel to the accrual ofsuch income on the loans granted to euro area member states, the Company recognises a liability againstthe euro area member states at the same time for the same amount. With the amendment of the MasterFinancial Assistance Facility Agreement signed on 12 December 2012 with Greece, the guarantee commissionfee has been reduced to zero basis points per annum without retroactive effect.
The following tables show the balance of the components per financial assistance programmes:

31 December 2020(in €'000) Nominal amount
Return onunderlyinginvestments Total liabilities

Financial assistance under EFSF 1
Ireland
 - Margin as remuneration for the MSG(1) 45,170 10,533 55,703
Portugal
 - Rebate for the borrowing countries 827,561 284,378 1,111,939
 - Margin as remuneration for the MSG(1) 9,560 3,289 12,849
Financial assistance under EFSF 2.1
Ireland
 - Guarantee commission fee 137,120 - 137,120
Portugal
 - Guarantee commission fee 170,998 - 170,998
Greece
 - Guarantee commission fee 65,306 - 65,306
Balance as at 31 December 2020 1,255,715 298,200 1,553,915
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31 December 2019(in €'000) Nominal amount
Return onunderlyinginvestments Total liabilities

Financial assistance under EFSF 1
Ireland
 - Margin as remuneration for the MSG(1) 45,170 10,533 55,703
Portugal
 - Rebate for the borrowing countries 827,561 260,037 1,087,598
 - Margin as remuneration for the MSG(1) 9,560 3,095 12,655
Financial assistance under EFSF 2.1
Ireland
 - Guarantee commission fee 118,680 - 118,680
Portugal
 - Guarantee commission fee 150,252 - 150,252
Greece
 - Guarantee commission fee 65,306 - 65,306
Balance as at 31 December 2019 1,216,529 273,665 1,490,194
(1) Member State Guarantors
The total balance of ‘Liability against euro area member states’ is a non-current liability.
On 31 December 2020 the total estimated fair value of the position ‘Liability against euro area memberstates’ amounted to €1.6 million (31 December 2019 : €1.5 million).
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13. Trade and other payables
The following table shows the breakdown of trade and other payables which are reported as current liabilitiesand are expected to be settled within no more than 12 months after the date of the statement of financialposition:
(in € '000) 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Amount charged by ESM for administrative services 9,516 9,403
Trade payables 118 31
Accrued expenses 105 145
Total trade and other payables 9,739 9,579

14. Share capital
By resolutions dated 30 June 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company approved an increase in theCompany’s share capital reserving to the existing shareholders their preferential subscription rights, by atotal amount of €10,000,000, to raise it to €28,440,453.35 from its previous amount of €18,440,453.35. Todo so, it created and issued 1,000,000,000 new shares with a par value of €0.01 each, with the capitalincrease taking effect upon receipt of all the subscription funds.
As a result of the share capital increase with effect from 29 July 2011, the Company’s subscribed share capitalamounts to €28,440,453.35, divided into 2,844,045,335 shares, with a par value of €0.01 each.
In addition to the subscribed share capital, the Company had an unissued but authorised share capital set at€1,590,546.65 to be divided into 159,054,665 shares of a par value of €0.01 each.
By resolutions dated 27 October 2011 further to the integration of Estonia in the EFSF, the Board of Directorsof the Company approved an increase in the Company’s share capital without reserving to the existingshareholders their preferential subscription rights, by a total amount of €72,943.57, in order to raise it to€28,513,396.92 from its previous amount of €28,440,453.35 by creating and issuing 7,294,357 new shareswith a par value of €0.01 each. The number of ordinary shares outstanding stood at 2,851,399 thousand asat 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.
In addition to the subscribed share capital, the Company has an unissued but authorised share capital set at€1,517,603.08 to be divided into 151,760,308 shares of a par value of €0.01 each.
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15. Reserves
The following table shows the reserves:
(in € '000) 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Fair value reserve 10,995 52,840
Legal reserve 2,894 2,894
Total reserves 13,889 55,734
As a result of the disposal of €483.4 million of treasury financial assets (refer to Note 9), an amount of€11.9 million recorded in the Fair value reserve as at 31 December 2019 was recycled to the Statement ofComprehensive Income for the period ending 31 December 2020.
In accordance with Luxembourg Law the Company allocated €2.9 million to the legal reserve for the first timein 2013. There was no additional allocation. This reserve may be distributed to shareholders only in the eventof the liquidation of the Company.

16. Interest revenue and expense calculated using the effective interestmethod
The following table shows the net interest margin:
(in € '000) 2020 2019
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
  on loans to euro area member states 2,273,623 2,558,241
  on treasury financial assets 35,085 37,802
  on debt securities in issue 31,565 10,309Total interest revenue calculated using the effective interestmethod 2,340,273 2,606,352
Interest expense calculated using the effective interest method
  on cash and cash equivalents (35,115) (31,053)
  on liability against euro area member states (27,088) (25,376)
  on debt securities in issue (2,209,948) (2,430,014)
Total interest expense calculated using the effective interestmethod (2,272,151) (2,486,443)

Net interest margin 68,122 119,909
On 31 December 2020, the interest expenses on cash and cash equivalents represents the negative interestpaid for the cash in hand. The EFSF is being charged a negative interest (- 0.40% per annum) on the cash heldat national central bank starting from February 2017.  This rate increased to -0.50% per annum starting fromSeptember 2019 and shall be prevalent until any further change is communicated.
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17. Other expenses
Other expenses are mainly composed of guarantee commission fees due to Member State Guarantors inrelation to the EFSF 2.1 programme for an amount of € 39.2 million on 31 December 2020 (2019:€ 40.5 million).

18. Administrative expenditures
Administrative expenditures consist of fees paid for professional services and miscellaneous operatingexpenses and are detailed as follows:
(in € '000) 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Amount charged by the ESM for administrative services (33,139) (33,139)
Rating agencies fees (623) (683)
Other services (641) (222)
Total other administrative expenditures (34,403) (34,044)
The ESM provides administrative services and other support services to the EFSF. To formalise suchcooperation, the ESM and the EFSF entered into a Service Level Agreement starting on 1 January 2013. On17 July 2020 and effective for the full year 2020, the fees calculation section of the Annex to the SLA betweenthe EFSF and the ESM has been amended by a decision of the ESM Managing Director in order to betterreflect the cost-sharing between the EFSF and the ESM. The change did not lead to material differences.
Under the amended terms of this agreement, the ESM is entitled to charge a service fee, which is calculatedbased on a fair cost-sharing and reflecting the level of activity for cost allocations between the twoinstitutions. The service fee represents the compensation for staff cost and other administrative costsincurred by the ESM. For the services provided during the financial year 2020, the ESM charged € 33.1 millionto the EFSF (31 December 2019: € 33.1million), out of which €9.5 million (31 December 2019: €9.4 million)(refer to Note 13) had yet to be paid on the balance sheet date.

19. Staff cost
The EFSF did not employ any staff in either 2020 or 2019. The ESM provides administrative services and othersupport services to the EFSF. A service fee is charged by the ESM to the EFSF for the services provided (referto Note 18).

20. Segment reporting
The Company applies the “management approach” of IFRS 8 meaning that the definition for segments aswell as the preparation of information used for segment reporting are both based on information preparedfor internal management decisions.
The Company has one single reportable segment which is the Company’s financial assistance activitycomprising the Company’s lending and funding operations.
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21. Related-party transactions
Key Management
On 31 December 2020, the Board of Directors was composed of 17 Directors. They have the authority forplanning, directing and controlling the Company’s activities. These Directors were not entitled toremuneration during the period.
Transactions with shareholders
As disclosed in detail in Note 8, the Company provided loans to Ireland, Greece and Portugal which are alsoCompany shareholders. As part of its activities, the EFSF also purchases debt securities issued by itsshareholders. Such securities are reported as Treasury financial assets in the statement of financial position.On 31 December 2020, the total carrying amount of purchased securities issued by shareholders of the EFSFwas €nil (31 December 2019: €nil).
Transactions with the European Stability Mechanism
The ESM provides administrative services and other support services to the EFSF. To formalise suchcooperation, the ESM and the EFSF entered into a Service Level Agreement starting on 1 January 2013 andhas been subsequently revised during 2020. Under the terms of this agreement, the ESM is entitled to chargea service fee to the EFSF (refer to Note 18).

22. Auditor’s fee
The total fees accrued by the Company to Ernst & Young, société anonyme are presented as follows:

(in € '000) 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Legal audit (166) (151)
Total fees (166) (151)

23. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events after the balance sheet date that would require adjustment of, ordisclosure in, the financial statements as at 31 December 2020.

European Financial Stability Facility QFSF European Financial Stability Facility QFSF 


